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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Financial review

During the year, the Group continued to engage in property related
businesses, provision of horticultural services, money lending
business, securities trading business, manufacturing and trading
of graphene and graphene-related products. The Group's revenue
of the year was mainly derived from rental income of investment
properties.

The Group recorded a substantial loss of HK$88,822,000 for the year
as compared to a profit of HK$51,898,000 for last year. The loss is
mainly attributable to the cessation of graphene business in Japan,
and as a result, the prepayment of equipment and machinery for
the manufacturing of graphene recorded in the accounting books of
overseas subsidiaries amounting to HK$54,516,000 has been written
off for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Total revenue increase by 13% to HK$16,529,000 (2017:
HK$14,572,000).

Revenue from rental income slightly grew by 6% year-over-year to
HK$10,747,000 (2017: HK$10,126,000).

Revenue derived from horticultural services recorded a 19% increase
to HK$4,894,000 (2017: HK$4,122,000).

Operating and administrative expenses decreased to HK$56,267,000
from the prior year of HK$67,973,000, representing a reduction of
17% year-over-year.

Finance costs amounted to HK$5,943,000 (2017: HK$4,553,000),
representing an increase of 31% year-over-year due to the reason
that the banking facility of HK$200,000,000 was fully drawdown since
August 2017.

Total equity of the Group decrease by 31% to HK$196,856,000 (2017:
HK$284,266,000) as a result of substantial loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.

The net asset value of the Group per share as at 31 December 2018

was HK$0.07 (2017: HK$0.10) based on the 2,819,102,084 (2017:
2,819,102,084) shares in issue.
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Business review

The Group changed its intention last year to hold the developed
properties as investment properties which generated stable rental
income stream to the Group in recent years. Rental income from
investment properties contributed over 65% of total revenue of the
Group. As at 31 December 2018, the market value of the investment
properties in existing state amounted to HK$369,200,000 (2017:
HK$358,400,000).

The Group operates horticultural services business under the brand
“Cheung Kee Garden”, which has over forty years of history and
sound reputation in the local market. This business segment has
a long established customer base and remained a stable income
stream to the Group during the year under review.

The Group started the segment of manufacturing and sales of
graphene in Japan since 2016. However, due to shortage of fund
recently, as explained in previous announcements, the Group is
unable to further support this business segment. After careful
consideration, the Board decided to discontinue the construction
process and cease the business in Japan. As a result, the
prepayment of equipment and machinery for manufacturing of
graphene has been written off for the year ended 31 December 2018.
During the year, the Group carried out certain graphene trading
business amounting to HK$432,000 (2017: HK$63,000)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

All the Group's funding and treasury activities are centrally managed
and controlled at the corporate level. There is no significant change
in respect of treasury and financing policies from the information
disclosed in the Company’s latest annual report. The Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated and the Group
conducts its business transactions principally in Hong Kong dollars
and Japanese yen. In view of the business segment in Japan, the
Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely reviewing the
movement of the foreign currency rate and considers hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2018, there was outstanding bank loans in
the principal sum of HK$200,000,000 (2017: HK$200,000,000). The
Group’s working capital requirements are funded by bank loans
which has been renewed for another two years in August 2018.
Given its potential change of controlling shareholder as disclosed
in the previous announcements dated 27 December 2018 and 20
February 2019, the Group may be in breach of some of the covenants
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attached to this banking facility. Breaches in meeting the covenants
would permit the bank to declare the loans immediately due and
repayable. The bank has been conducting a credit review in respect
of the existing banking facility. As at the date of this annual report,
the bank has not notified the Company the results of such review.

The Group recorded a net current liabilities of HK$196,641,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$144,586,000) and had
a net operating cash outflows of HK$38,761,000 during the year.
The management is now actively looking for source of financing to
improve the financial situations of the Group.

However, the Directors would like to draw your attention to the
report of the independent auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited,
with regard to the “Material Undertaking Related to the Going
Concern”.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 36 employees
(2017: 47).

Employees (including directors) are remunerated according to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. On top of basic salaries, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to eligible employee by reference to the
individual's performance. In addition, the Company also provides
social security benefits to its staff such as mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the "Dividend
Policy”), pursuant to which the Company may distribute dividends
to the shareholders of the Company by way of cash or shares.
Any distribution of dividends shall be in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company and the distribution shall achieve continuity,
stability and sustainability. The recommendation of the payment
of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board,
and any declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval
of the shareholders. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board
shall also take into account, inter alia, the Group’s earnings per
share, the reasonable return in investment of the investors and
the shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue
to support the Group in long-term basis, the financial conditions
and business plan of the Group, and the market sentiment and
circumstances. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to
time and there is no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or
declared in any specific periods.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The directors herein present their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review and prospects

A business review of the Group’s and a discussion and analysis of
the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2018,
the financial position and an indication of likely future development
in the Company’s business are set out in section headed “Business
Review and Prospects” on page 4 of this Annual Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The major risks facing the Group are summarized below.

Impact of local and international regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension
of the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely
monitors changes in government policies, regulations and markets
as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes.

Third-party risk

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
the management realizes that such operational dependency
may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses
in service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages
only reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Environmental policies and performance

The Company persistently strive to operate its business in an
economic, social and environmentally sustainable manner. During
the year, while seeking business growth, the Group assumed its
corporate environmental and social responsibilities proactively by
making constant progress towards sustainable development. The
Group has developed and improved its environmental policies,
optimised the efficiency in the use of energy and resources,
advocated and promoted environmental protection and reduced the
impact of its business development on the environment.

Details of the Company’s environmental policy and performance are
published in the separate Environmental, Social and Governance
Report which will be available at the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange not later than 3 months after the
publication of this annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The incorporation places of the Company and its subsidiaries
includes Bermuda, Hong Kong, the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") and Japan. The Group's operations are carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Japan while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant
laws and regulations of Bermuda, Hong Kong, the BVI and Japan.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, we have complied with
all the relevant laws and regulations in the statutory and business
operation.

Key relationships with employees, customers and
suppliers

The Group promoted people-oriented management cultures and
emphasized the value of employees as it believed employees were
important resources for enhancing the Company’s productivity
and core competency. To provide employees with competitive
remunerations and opportunities to receive skill trainings is closely
connected to the realization of employees’ individual values as well
as the Group's strategic goals.

The Group maintained good cooperation and communications
with suppliers and ensured both sides were mutually benefited.
The Group also paid close attention to customers’ satisfaction
and constantly enhanced service quality in order to maintain good
reputation of the Company.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 and the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 40
to 114.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2018.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
noncontrolling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on the page 116 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group are set out in
note 18 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 30 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) was Nil (2017: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for 32% (2017: 38%) of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 23%
(2017 13%).

Purchases from the Group'’s five largest suppliers accounted for 79%
(2017: 77%) of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier included therein amounted to 41% (2017: 23%).

As far as the directors are aware, neither the directors, their close
associates, nor those shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares had any
interest in the five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Chen Meng
Mr. Zhou Chen (Appointed on 1 February 2018)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wang song Ling

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Resigned on 30 November 2018)
Mr. Li Jing Bo (Resigned on 28 December 2018)

Mr. Gao Han (Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Chow Chi Ping (Appointed on 28 February 2019)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 86(2), Mr. Gao Han and
Mr. Chow Chi Ping shall hold office only until the forthcoming annual
general meeting, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
as directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Moreover, in accordance with the Company’s Bye-law 87(1), Mr.
Li Feng Mao and Mr. Chen Meng will retire from office by rotation,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election as director at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriated directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")) as recorded

EEzRiER

EAfj —N\F+ZA=+—R8 KRAFEFR&

BITBABA R EE 2 BB ARARE R EARR
ﬁl(m%%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ;ﬂﬂﬁﬂ(( &5 KR RR )
EXVED) 2 Befn ~ HEARD RESF - HEART
RIEF S KRB GGIFE 2R AFEZECMATRE

in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to &7 #ERSAR » BB F B ITAZESETHE
Section 3520f the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company 5% S HrELE<F B ([1Z%<PR] ) BRTHEARA
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 7 REEZ P2 HEZS SR B IAT ¢
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were
as follows:
Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the RZA&ATRERBBERE ZFA :
Company:
Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company: RARBRG RBERD TR
Number and class

Nature of interest of shares held Percentage
Name of director EZE# S EREME FrERAE A RER BoL
Li Feng Mao =SS Interest of controlled corporation 2,112,395,735 74.93%

Rt EEE S

Note:

Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") was deemed to have 2,112,395,735 shares held by HK Guoxin
Investment Group Limited by virtue of it being wholly-owned by Mr. Li.

As at the date of issue of this Directors’ Report, (i) the Company
became aware that a winding-up petition was made against HK
Guoxin Investment Group Limited (“"HK Guoxin”) by & & Bl (=
EHEEBAR AT (the "Petitioner”) in the High Court of Hong
Kong on 10 December 2018 on the ground that HK Guoxin is
indebted towards the Petitioner a debt of HK$170,000,000, and (ii)
RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited claiming that Messrs.
Osman Mohammed Arab and Lai Wing Lun have been appointed as
receivers (the receivership”) of the 2,112,395,735 shares held by HK
Guoxin in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the
directors and the chief executive of the Company were, under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, taken to be interested or
deemed to have any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company, that were required
to be entered into the register kept by the Company pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Report
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Purpose of the scheme

The existing share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company
was adopted on 25 June 2013 for the purposes of enabling the Group
to provide incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of
the Group and to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

Participants of the scheme

The directors of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite eligible participants, including the directors or any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Group or an affiliate, and any
consultant, agent, or advisor of the Group or an affiliate, to take up
options (the “Option(s)”) to subscribe for shares of the Company
under the Scheme.

Total number of shares available for issue
On the adoption date of 25 June 2013, the total number of shares of
the Company (the “Shares”) available for issue under the Scheme
were 263,165,208, representing 10% of the issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of adoption of the Scheme.

On 27 May 2016, the ordinary resolution of refreshment of
the Scheme limit was approved by shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company. As at 31 December 2017, total
number of Share available for further issue under the Scheme was
281,910,208, representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no Option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed, or was cancelled under the Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which the Options may
be granted to any one participant in any twelve-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue from time to
time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Time of exercise of option

The Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as determined by the directors of
the Company and not exceeding ten years from the date of the grant.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within twenty-
one days from the date of offer upon an initial payment of HK$1 in
total for each acceptance.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price of the Options is determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the
highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of the grant,
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(c) the nominal value of a Share.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme became effective on 25 June 2013 and will remain in
force for a period of 10 years from that date.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the company had
a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of the
information on director is as follows:

Mr. Zhou Chen was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 March 2018.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of transactions between the Group and parties regarded
as "Related Parties” under applicable accounting principles are set
out in note 35 to the financial statements. No transaction disclosed
thereto constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction of the Company subject to, among other things,
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN

SHARES

FERRZBRHES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the RZ-ZZTE—N\E+=-_A=+—H Ty EZTERE (K

following substantial shareholders (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the T :

SFO, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

RABEFEREBTHABRIN RARAZ D &
MERAR Y - B AR RIRIERE 7 K BRI 336
R RERFEZELMACEZ EEIOXE N

RARXTRGREBERG ZHA :

company:
Number and
class of
Name of shareholders Nature of interest shares held Percentage
BREEH R PR 49 B B R S5 BAL
HK Guoxin Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("HK Guoxin") Mote ) EnEEA ordinary shares
ERBEREREEEABRAT] gl
(I&EBRME L)W=
Clever Robust Limited (“Clever Robust”) Note2) Person having a security 2,112,395,735 74.93%
Clever Robust Limited ([ Clever Robust ] ) 2 interest in shares ordinary shares
IR R B Eme A+ gl
Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("Huarong Inv. Stock™) Mete2) corporation ordinary shares
EFRERMN AR AR ([ERRE R ) W2 RiEHEE R gl
Right Select International Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("Right Select”) o2 corporation ordinary shares
Right Select International Limited REHEE S AR
(TRight Select ) #=2)
China Huarong International Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
(“China Huarong Int'|") (ote2 corporation ordinary shares
A B R B R AR PR A R RiEHEE RS AR
([ B EERRBRR | ) 32
FREREEEERNER A Interest of a controlled 2,112,395,735 74.93%
("PEFEREE") N2 corporation ordinary shares
PREREEEERHERAA g k| N Rl
([ BRI S E |) HE2
Messrs. Osman Mohammed Arab Receivers and Managers 2,112,395,735 74.93%

and Lai Wlng Lun Noted)
B8R 4o BREER o

of charged shares
e ARERA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
company: (continued)

Notes:
(1) The entire issued shares of HK Guoxin were owned by Mr. Li Feng Mao.

2 On 14 December 2017, the Company was notified by DION system, five DI
notices were filed with the Stock Exchange pursuant to section 324 of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance from Clever Robust, Huarong Inv. Stock,
Right Select, China Huarong Int'l and #EI%Egh & Z. According to these notices,
Clever Robust became having securities interest in 2,112,395,735 shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) which beneficially owned by HK Guoxin, the Shares were
charged to Clever Robust on 11 December 2017, while Huarong Inv. Stock, Right
Select, China Huarong Int’l and FEIZEREE Z= own corporate interests of the
Shares through its interest in Clever Robust.

) On 20 December 2018, the Company was notified by received two DI notices pursuant
to section 324 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance from Messrs. Osman
Mohammed Arab and Lai Wing Lun. According to these notices, Messrs. Osman
Mohammed Arab and Lai Wing Lun were appointed as Joint and Several Receivers and
Managers (the “Receivers”) of the charged shares held by HK Guoxin.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company had
not been notified of any other persons (other than persons who were
directors and chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 12 August 2016, the Company accepted a facility letter
relating to a two-year term loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$200,000,000 (the “Facility”) (the “Facility Letter”) offered by
a licensed bank in Hong Kong (the “Bank”). Such facility has been
renewed in August 2018.

As one of the undertakings requested by the Bank in the Facility
Letter, Mr. Li Feng Mao (the ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company), shall hold, directly or indirectly, over 50% controlling shares
of the Company during the Facility period. A breach of the aforesaid
undertaking may constitute an event of default and all amounts
(including principal and interest) due or owing by the Company to the
Bank shall become immediately due and payable by the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of the report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

A resolution was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 27 May 2016, Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
(“Crowe Horwath") was appointed as auditor of the Company and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company. But after taking into account several factors including
the level of audit works required, the level of audit fees and its
available internal resources, Crowe Horwath resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 12 May 2017.

A resolution was approved by shareholders at the annual general
meeting held on 28 May 2018, RSM Hong Kong ("RSM") was
appointed as auditor of the Company and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.
Since the Company and RSM could not arrive at a consensus on the
audit fee, RSM resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 27 December 2018.

Afterwards, a resolution was approved by the shareholders at the
special general meeting of the Company held on 30 January 2019,
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI") was appointed as the
new auditor of the Company and to hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2018 were audited by ZHONGHUI. ZHONGHUI
shall retire as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of ZHONGHUI
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Chen
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) believes that
good corporate governance is crucial to improve the efficiency and
performance of the Company and to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company had applied
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Code, except
that the Chairman of the Board was absent from the general meeting
of the Company due to other important engagement at the relevant
time.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than the Code. The Company will periodically review
and improve its corporate governance practices with reference to
the latest development of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding directors'
securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry by the
Company, all directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board of Directors

The composition of the Board during the year of 2018 and up to the
date of this Report was as follows:

Executive directors:
Mr. Chen Meng
Mr. Zhou Chen
(appointed on 1 February)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Li Feng Mao (Chairman)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) EES (&)

Composition of the Board of Directors (Continued) EEgmAK (E)

Independent non-executive directors: BUIBITES :

Mr. Wang Song Ling ER/NES e

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Resigned on 30 November 2018) FEEXERZZE-—NEF+—A=1THET)
Mr. Li Jing Bo (Resigned on 28 December 2018) EEREE(R-ZBE-NE+-_A=-+N\BEF)
Mr. Gao Han (Appointed on 28 February 2019) BESERZZE-NFA=Z+N\BEZE)
Mr. Chow Chi Ping (Appointed on 28 February 2019) BARFELEE(RZE—NF_A-1+/\BEZT)

The following table shows the attendance of each individual member T &x#H | EEeZFARKEHEREE_Z—N
of the Board at the respective meetings of the Board andthe F+_-A=1+—HIEEETHNIAEZTENE
respective Board Committees as well as the general meeting held FEZE@@ZMIRE AL

during the year ended 31 December 2018:

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee  General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
W E270) RE
Name of Directors T EzZgeE ZEge3 ZEEEE ZEEEE REAE
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mr. Chen Meng BREE 55 NATER NATER  NATER 0/1
Mr. Zhou Chen e BB s 4 e 44 NATER NATER — N/ATER 1/1
Non-executive director: HHTEE -
Mr. Li Feng Mao FEREE 55  NATER NANER  NATER 0/1
Independent non-executive directors: B HHTEE -
Mr. Wang Song Ling BN 5 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 0/1
Mr. Li Jing Bo (ete2 SR S i) 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 01
Mr. Li Wai Kwan Mot PRELEN 3/4 3/3 112 112 1
Notes: BisE
1. Mr. Zhou Chen was appointed on 1 February 2018 1. BARAECRZZE—N\F_A—BEZE
2. Mr. Li Jing Bo resigned on 28 December 2018 2. FEREEER - NE+_A=Z1+/\HEHE
3. Mr. Li Wai Kwan (appointed on 1 February 2018 and resigned on 30 November 3. FREELEEENR-ZE-N\FE_A—AEEZE ER=F
2018) —N\FE+—A=1+HET
4. Mr. Gao Han and Mr. Chow Chi Ping were appointed as the directors of the 4. SRAEERERFEEDR-_ZE-—NF-_A=-T/\BE
Company on 28 February 2019, so that they did not participate in the meetings of ZEARARAES  WUHBREVELBARARFAR-ZT
the Company during the year of 2018. —N\FRBITZEE -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Functions of the Board

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Apart from its
statutory duties, the Board reviews and approves the Group’s
strategic plans, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions, annual business plans, reviews the financial
performance of the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management personnel.

Guidelines are established which specify certain material
transactions that require the Board’s approval which include
mergers and acquisitions, divestments and major capital
expenditure.

The Board has separate and independent access to management
and the company secretary. Management provides the Board
with reports of the Group’s performance, financial position and
prospects, and these are reviewed by the Board at Board meeting.
Directors may obtain independent professional advice in furtherance
of their duties at the Group’s expense.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for
the Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Independent non-executive directors

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, there
are three independent non-executive directors representing at least
one-third of the Board. Among the three independent non-executive
directors, one of them has appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required
by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considered all of
them to be independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ continuous professional development
Directors are encourages to participate in continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year, all directors received briefings and updates on
the Group’s business, operations, risk management and corporate
governance matters. Materials on new or changes to rules and
regulations applicable to the Company were provided to them. The
Company has received from each of Directors the confirmation on
and training record of taking continuous professional training.

CHAIRMAN

During the year of 2018, Mr. Li Feng Mao (“Mr. Li") performed the role
of the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Li focuses on formulating the
corporate direction and strategies of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the non-executive and independent non-executive directors have
entered into letters of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years subject to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company, including the requirement of retirement
by rotation and re-election or standing for re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company at least once every three years.
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TEERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Ccommittee”) with written terms of reference. The audit committee
is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Company, and shall assist
the Board to fulfill its responsibility over the audit process.

During the year of 2018 and up to the date of this Report, the Audit
Committee comprises all independent non-executive directors of the
Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Chow Chi Ping (Chairman of the Committee)
(Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Gao Han (Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Wang song Ling

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (the Chairman of the Committee)
(Resigned on 30 November 2018)

Mr. Li Jing Bo (Resigned on 28 December 2018)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee
met three occasions with the presence of external auditors and
discharged its responsibilities in its review of the interim and annual
results. The work performed by the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 December 2018 included reviewing and discussion of the
following:

a.  the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 of the Group, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

b.  the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2018 of the Group, with are recommendation to the
Board for approval;

c. the appointment of the external auditor, the remuneration
and terms of engagement of external auditor, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

d.  the risk management and internal control system of the Group;

e. the audit process and its effectiveness, audit fees and
independence and objectivity of the external auditors for the
year ended 31 December 2018, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval; and
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TEERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit committee (Continued)
f. the compliance status of the Group with the Listing Rules and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 of the Group, with
a recommendation to the Board for approval.

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference. The
primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and structure relating to all directors and senior
management of the Company.

During the year of 2018 and up to the date of this Report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Gao Han (Chairman of the Committee)
(Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Chow Chi Ping (Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Wang Song Ling

Mr. Li Jing Bo (the Chairman of the Committee)
(Resigned on 28 December 2018)

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Resigned on 30 November 2018)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration
committee held two meetings and preformed the work included the
followings:

a. reviewing and discussing the remuneration package of the
existing and new appointment of the directors of the Company;
and

b.  making recommendation of new remuneration packages of the
directors and communicating to the Board.

The remuneration of directors is determined with reference to their
duties and responsibilities, market conditions and performance of
the Group. Details of emoluments of directors for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.
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TEERHRE

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination committee
The Company established a nomination committee (the

“Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference. The
primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a regular basis and to make recommendations to the Board
the suitable candidates for directorship after consideration of the
nominees’ independence and quality in order to ensure fairness and
transparency of all nominations.

During the year of 2018 and up to the date of this Report, the
Nomination Committee comprises all independent non-executive
directors of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. Wang song Ling (the Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Gao Han (Appointed on 28 February 2019)

Mr. Chow Chi Ping (Appointed on 28 February 2019)
Mr. Li Jing Bo (Resigned on 28 December 2018)

Mr. Li Wai Kwan (Resigned on 30 November 2018)

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings and preformed the work included the followings:

a. reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board;

b.  reviewing the new appointment of the Executive Director and
the Independent Non-Executive Directors;

C. reviewing the re-appointment of retiring directors for re-
election;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors; and

e. making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
director.
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TEERHRE

NOMINATION POLICY

The secretary of the Company shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members for consideration by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who are
not nominated by Board members. The factors which would be
used as reference by the Nomination Committee in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate for director include, inter alia,
reputation for integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the Board, and such
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company'’s corporate governance functions are carried out by
the Board pursuant to the applicable code provisions of the CG Code
which include:

a. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board:;

b.  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the
Company;

c. toreview and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
directors of the Company;, and

26 China Graphene Group Limited « HEHEAEBEER AT

REBBXR

ARANERCHIREZESSH  YBFES
ERERABREN UHIERZBEER - 185
ZEENARALFAETENERRZRE
A RBZEBENTERERESREAZEAMN
B RE2EZRREBR (AP RE)MEEE -
HEER - Bl - BARRER KRB KRG
ZHBRER BEERAXREHHETELAES
EREBE EFENEZTUHARBARFE
BmEBEE cEtBEE - RELZEQBFLIE
BREHEFEZIEMMLE -

EEEZUIBEER

BYZTEZTERREANBEFRER AR
AN RRA LB - RIEAZERBER
BzZneBE  BEETRNMER  Fi# X
EERBEER Bk BELR KL F@Rk
RIFEFER - ZEREKBORNERIREAKLE T
ExezEBENER -

ERERHAE
ARz OEEABEMEFTRECEEAT

Al BRT AR METT - B

a.  HIEMBHNAARNEEEABRREER -
FREFSRNER

b. WIREBEATNEERBRELA SN
N ETEBE

C. BEAREEARREETERAEEREN
HZBREER

d #E RARERERRARFEERES
2R TR RARTFM (E) - R



Corporate Governance Report

TEERHRE

e. toreview the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018, except for the
deviation disclosed previously, the Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code and was
not aware of any non-compliance to relevant applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018,
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group at the date and of the Group's results and cash
flows for the year then ended and are properly prepared on the
going concern basis in accordance with the statutory requirements
and accounting standards. The directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 33 to 39 of the Annual
Report 2018.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the auditor of the Company
and its subsidiaries would receive approximately HK$830,000 (2017:
HK$705,000) for audit and audit related services, and HK$60,000
(2017: HK$60,000) for other non-audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year of 2018, Mr. Zhou Chen (“Mr. Zhou") was the
Company Secretary of the Company, who has complied with all the
qualifications under the Listing Rules. Mr. Zhou took no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2018 as required by the Listing Rules.
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TEERHRE

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general
meeting may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company and the securities being held carrying
the right of voting at any general meetings of the Company. The
shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company
shall serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including
the time, place of meeting and particulars of resolutions to be
considered at the meeting and the general nature of the business. If
within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such written requisition,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such special general meeting,
the shareholder shall do so pursuant to the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting enquiries to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business in Hong Kong and the Company Secretary
shall then forward the same to the appropriate executives of the
Company or members in the Board for further handling.

Putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.
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TEERHRE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Directors meet and communicate with shareholders at the
general meeting of the Company. The Chairman proposes separate
resolutions for each issue to be considered and put each proposed
resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting results are posted on
the Company’s website on the day of the general meeting.

Our Company’s website which contains corporate information,
corporate governance practice, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars issued by the Company enables the
Company'’s shareholders to have timely and updated information of
the Company.

AMENDMENT TO BYE-LAWS

The Company did not amend its Bye-laws during the year ended 31
December 2018.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Company has formulated a policy and procedures on disclosure
of inside information (the “Policy”) in accordance with Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and
the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information published by
the Securities and Futures Commission. The policy applies to all
employees of the Company. The Board will be responsible for
adopting and periodically reviewing and updating the Policy.

Moreover, the Company has employed an external consultant to
review and comment the Group’s financial reporting procedures,
system and internal controls for the year ended 31 December 2018.
The consultant has provided to the Board a review report (the
“Report”) which contain recommendations to address the identified
control design and implementation effectiveness. The Board
has reviewed the Report and has made the improvement to the
Company's risk management and internal control systems.

A year-end review of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its
subsidiaries risk management and internal control systems has been
conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective
and adequate.
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Directors’ Biographies
EERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Meng, aged 46, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 6 November 2015. Mr. Chen has abundance
experience in corporate management, investment and capital
management. Mr. Chan is currently the General Manager of Xin
Tian Di Group Jilin Investment Company Limited and Xin Tian Di
Investment Group Changchun zhi Ye Company Limited. He was
the general manager of Jilin Long Xin Asset Management Company
from 2003 to 2006. Prior to that he was in charge of the Finance
department of the Changchun office of China Petroleum Shares
Company Limited. He is also a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Zhou Chen, aged 37, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 1 February 2018. He then was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 1 March 2018. Mr. Zhou has
extensive experience in auditing, accounting, financial management
and corporate finance. He was the chief treasury officer of the
Company from June 2016 to January 2018, where he was in charge of
the Group's accounting and corporate finance matters. Mr. Zhou has
been the chief financial officer of Yamada Green Resources Limited
(stock code: BJV), a company listed on the Singapore Exchange (the
“SGX") since January 2018. From October 2015 to June 2016, Mr.
Zhou was the chief financial officer and the company secretary of
Asia Fashion Holdings Limited (stock code: BQI), a company listed
on the Singapore Exchange. During the period from October 2013
to October 2015, he had been a general manager of investment and
corporate finance of Bayon Airlines Holdings Limited, an enterprise
risk manager and internal control manager of Tee International
Limited (stock code: M12), a company listed on the SGX, and the
finance manager of a Singapore private company where he was in
charge of accounting and initial public offering process. Between
2008 and 2013, Mr. Zhou worked at Singapore local audit firms
and was responsible for, amongst others, auditing companies
incorporated in China and listed on the SGX.

Mr. Zhou is an affiliate of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) and is a member of the Institute of Singapore
Chartered Accountants. He also is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. He obtained an advanced diploma in
accountancy from Xiamen University in December 2016. Mr. Zhou
graduated from Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom
with a bachelor of science degree in applied accounting in July 2008.

Mr. Zhou is currently an independent non-executive director of a
company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), namely Wuzhou International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1369) since December 2017. He is also
a director of several subsidiaries of the Company.
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Directors’ Biographies
EERERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Feng Mao, aged 49, was appointed as an non-executive
director and the Chairman of the Company on 6 November 2015.
Mr. Li is an entrepreneur who focused on investment holding and
corporate management and has investments in various enterprises
mainly located in the Jilin province, China. The business of these
enterprises cover railroad communication & logistics, mining and
refinery, natural resources, property development, banking, and
financial leasing, etc. Mr. Li holds a Doctor of Philosophy Degree
awarded by the Jilin University of China. Mr. Li is the sole owner of HK
Guoxin Investment Group Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. He is also director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wang Song Ling, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 21 July 2017. Mr. Wang was the
Chairman of the Board of China Jilin Province International Economic
and Technological Cooperation Company (F Bl & # & Bl BR 41
1l & 122 A1) since 2004 until his retirement in 2011. Prior to that, he
was the director of China lilin Forest Industry Group Company (#
Bl & ME HRM T2 %EE 2 7)) and the director of China Jilin Forest
Industry Group Co., Ltd. (EMHEMITEEBEREFE L) of that
group, which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in China and
one of the four largest enterprises in the forestry industry in China.
Mr. Wang was also the general manager and the first Chairman of
Jilin Forestry Resources Development Company (& #k%& &R
%72 @) and Jilin Quanyanggquan Drinks Company (& #& 555 5 80 %
‘A a]) respectively, and succeeded in developing the Quanyangquan
mineral water (3% R 8% £ 7K) for its launching.

Mr. Wang is a postgraduate from Party School of Jilin Provincial
Committee (E#4& £ ER), and graduated from its Economics and
Management Department (4 EE B E M 550T) in 2004. He also
graduated from the Institute of Education in Siping City (\UFH#E
) and the Agriculture and Mechanics College in Jilin Province (&
WA B ZEEMLER) respectively. He has extensive experience in
corporate planning and management.
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Directors’ Biographies
EERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Gao Han (“Mr. Gao”), aged 42, has been working in the
financial industry over 21 years, previously working with Goldman
Sachs as a proprietary trader and working for China Investment
Corporation (CIC) as Head of Trading. He later founded Sinolink
Securities (HK). Since 2016, He headed China team of HKEX group
which designed and implemented stock connects, bond connects
and various products and services. Mr. Gao obtained his BS degree
from Tsinghua University, and Masters in both Statistics and
Computer Science & Ph.D in Computer Science from the University
of Chicago. Mr. Gao is currently the Managing Director of China Eagle
Asset Management.

Mr. David Chi-ping Chow (“Mr. Chow"), aged 61, Mr. Chow
is currently a venture capital partner of InterTech Ventures LLC in
New York and InAmerica Ventures LLC in Los Angeles. He is the
annual innovation incubator of the United States-New York R/GA
Accelerator strategic cooperative investor representative, a Partner
of Mt. Wilson Ventures Venture Capital Fund, Pasadena, California,
the representative of China region of Parsons School of Design,
New York, an advisor to the board of directors of Los Angeles New
Egg E-Commerce, and a consultant of PwC Consulting Business.
Mr. Chow was an independent non-executive director of the Grand
Field Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 115) from 2008 to 2014,
the company is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Chow
was the managing director of Tekhill Holdings Ltd. Mr. Chow had
been the general manager of China Region of Interclients LLC and a
partner of Shanghai China Bay. Mr. Chow is a United States Certified
Public Accountant and an American Certified Tax Practitioner. He
has 38 years of experience in financial planning, corporate internal
control and audit, strategic planning and implementation. Mr. Chow
was the chief financial officer for China of General Mills and Haagen-
Dazs, the chief financial officer of Xian Janssen Pharmaceutical, a
subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson group. He was the chief financial
officer for Greater China of Pillsbury and Haagen-Dazs, the chief
financial officer for China and Vice-President of Supply Chain of
Nabisco. He was a financial analyst of Motorola. Mr. Chow graduated
with a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from Santa Clara University,
California. He also received management training from Columbia
University and Northwestern University.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

B ZEERE

th;C

ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA GRAPHENE GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Graphene Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 40 to 114,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

1.

34

Investment in associates

Five Color Stone Technology Corporation (“Five Color
Stone”)

No sufficient evidence has been provided to satisfy ourselves
as to (i) the recoverable amount of the investment in Five Color
Stone with carrying value of approximately HK$12,211,000 and
HK$12,541,000 as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively
and (i) whether share of loss of approximately HK$330,000 and
HK$223,000 of Five Color Stone is properly recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Limited accounting books and records of
subsidiaries

Wi Capital Co., Limited (“WI Capital”) and WI Graphene
Co., Limited (“WI Graphene”)

Due to the insufficiency of supporting documentation and
explanations for accounting books and records in respect
of the WI Capital and WI Graphene for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017, we were unable to carry out audit
procedures to satisfy ourselves as to whether the following
income and expenses for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 and the assets and liabilities as at those dates, and
the segment information and other related disclosure notes in
relation to the Group, as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, have been properly recorded and
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements:
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2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Income and expenses BET-A=1+—HILFE
for the years ended 31 December: ZRARBE -
Revenue Wz 432 63
Cost of sales SHER A (431) (57)
Gross profit EF 1 6
Other revenue HAbas 291 29
Other losses HibEs1a - (70)
Write-off prepayment for property, Yz - RE MR TR
plant and equipment FRIE 2 Mg (54,516) -
Administrative expenses THAX (14,300) (16,817)
Loss from operations ReEEE (68,524) (16,852)
Other comprehensive income after tax: BigHMmSERES
[tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AEFOEEEEZEE
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEIRINEIE M EER
operations P H 2= RE 1,412 815
Other comprehensive income FREMmZEKE (BRBE)
for the year, net of tax 1,412 815
Total comprehensive expenses for the year £RZEA X &4 (67,112) (16,037)
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Assets and liabilities as at 31 December: RIZA=+—HAZEE
REE:
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BEMEE 2,353 3,774
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment — ¥1% - W= L& 2 Kt
ETer] - 37,442
2,353 41,216
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables H 5 R H A BRI 1,801 1,821
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 13 19,263
1,814 21,084
current liability REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EAEIRIA 5,322 1,830
Net current (liabilities)/assets hE(BE)BEFE (3,508) 19,254
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) EBEFE (1,155) 60,470
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Any adjustments to the figures as described from points 1 and
2 above might have consequential effects on the consolidated
financial performance and consolidated cash flows for the two years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and the consolidated financial
positions of the Group as at 31 December 2018 and 2017, and the
related disclosures thereof in the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to the Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$88,822,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and as at 31
December 2018, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$196,641,000 and the Group had a net
operating cash outflows of approximately HK$38,761,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2018. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for Qualified
Opinion section and the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in out report.
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Investment Properties

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group measured its investment properties at fair value with
the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss. This fair value measurement is significant to our audit because
the balance of investment properties of HK$369,200,000 as at 31
December 2018 and the fair value gain of HK$10,800,000 for the year
then ended are material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group's fair value measurement involves application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and discuss and
challenge the valuation process, methodologies used and
market evidence to support significant judgments and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence,

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model, and

- Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurement of the
investment properties is supported by the available evidence.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
which states that the Company became aware that a winding-up
petition was made against HK Guoxin Investment Group Limited
("HK Guoxin”), which is the immediate parent of the Company and
receivers were appointed in respect of the 2,112,395,735 shares held
by HK Guoxin in the Company.

We draw attention to note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements which states that the Company has violated several
covenants attached to the interest-bearing borrowings. Breaches in
meeting the covenants would permit the bank to immediately call
borrowings.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The other information is expected
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website
at:

http.//www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
e RkHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
{ij=3 TERT FAT
Revenue g 7 16,529 14,572
Cost of sales SHEMAR (1,590) (703)
Gross profit EF 14,939 13,869
Other income HAA 8 2,604 541
Other gains and losses HAb Wezs B8 9 (43,808) 110,237
Operating and administrative expenses RE RITHAY (56,267) (67,973)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (E18),/ m A (82,532) 56,674
Finance costs AR 11 (5,943) (4,553)
Share of losses of associates FEIGHEE A RE1E (330) (223)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBLAT (B51R) R (88,805) 51,898
Income tax expenses FTiSFif s 12 (17) -
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable ~ AATEEABLER
to owners of the Company (B8),/HEH 13 (88,822) 51,898
Other comprehensive income Ht 2wz
Items that may be reclassified HEHEEEm o B
to profit or 10ss:
Exchange differences on translating MERINEB M EENES
foreign operations =5 1,412 815
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKE
for the year, net of tax (BR%i) 1,412 815
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ ROTEEANEEER
income for the year attributable 2E (X)) W8 E
to owners of the Company (87,410) 52,713
(Loss)/earnings per share SREA/(FE) 17
Basic (HK cent(s) per share) EA (GBI BK) 3.15 1.84
Diluted (HK cent(s) per share) #3080, /8R) 3.15 184
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e R R R

As at 31 December 2018 R=—Z—N\F+_-_A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

2018 2017
—E-)\#F —E—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BfaE FET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E N YNy 18 4,218 6,700
Investment properties "B 19 369,200 358,400
Investment in associates i N = 20 12,211 12,541
Pledged bank deposits DIIRIRITIER 24 6,368 13,769
Deposits paid for investment properties HEMENE[FiRe 22 1,500 -
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment  #7% - BE k& iE 2
TEfIFRIE 22 - 37,442
393,497 428,852
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 21 527 462
Trade and other receivables E 5 R H b BRI 22 6,329 7,466
Investments at fair value through FERERE A TESR
profit or 10ss 2B 23 645 737
Cash and cash equivalents ReERAEEED 24 5,359 57,422
12,860 66,087
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENIRIA 25 9,484 10,673
Current tax liabilities BIEfFHIE B (& 17 -
Bank borrowings RITEE 26 200,000 200,000
209,501 210,673
Net current liabilities REBAEFEE (196,641) (144,586)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 196,856 284,266
Capital and reserves RAR
Share capital (&N 28 140,955 140,955
Reserves B 30 55,901 143,311
TOTAL EQUITY R 196,856 284,266

The consolidated financial statements are approved and authorised #ZEHFEAUBHRREEEFERN _ZE-—NF=H
for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2019 and are signed =t/ B#LE - WA TIIEFHRREE :
on its behalf by:

Chen Meng Zhou Chen
BRIE AR
Director Director
EE -
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Cconsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

Foreign
Capital  currency
Share Share redemption translation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve profits equity
e M
A RIPEE BER#E iR REEF R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TEL TEx TEx THT TEL
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+%F—HA—H 140,955 26,770 121 (7,656) 71,363 231,553
Total comprehensive FAZENEEE
income for the year - - - 815 51,898 52,713
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-A=1+-H 140,955 26,770 121 (6,841) 123,261 284,266
At 1 January 2018 RZE-\§—-HA—-H 140,955 26,770 121 (6,841) 123,261 284,266
Total comprehensive ENZEMZEE
expenses for the year - - - 1,412 (88,822) (87,410)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—-N\F
+-A=+—-H 140,955 26,770 121 (5,429) 34,439 196,856
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

2018 2017
—E-\F —E—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE THERT FAT

Cash flows from operating activities RELBMERERE
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELA (E518), S F (88,805) 51,898

Adjustments for: AT AR -
Deficit on revaluation of building BFEHEL 2 4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - BB LR EITE 2,036 2,041
Fair value gain on investment properties BREWMERAFEKRE (10,800) (110,081)
Interest income FEHA (2) ©
Finance costs BEMK A 5,943 4,553
Fair value changes in investments at fair BBBEREATESRZ 92 (156)
value through profit and loss BERNTHEZE)
Net foreign exchange gain HNEDE 5 Iees F 2R - Q)
(Reversal of) allowance for trade receivables B 5 ENERIBRE (M) (164) 191
Write off bad debts bl 37 -
(Reversal of) allowance for inventories FE#EE (BE) (2) 149
Loss on litigation FAAEE 36a 269 -
Reversal of over-provided expenses in prior years BEFERTBERERD (1,483) -
Provision for long services payment SRR R 198 -
Write-off prepayment for property, M - BE R ERN IR 54,516 -
plant and equipment 2 WsH

Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment ~ HEWE - BE R EE 2 KEF (278) -
Share of losses of associates e B = AR B 330 223
Operating cash flows before working capital changes k&iE & & B EHRIL L EE (38,111) (51,180)
Change in inventories FEEE (63) (180)
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 & E it FE AR IE 2 & (184) (36,442)
Change in trade and other payables 85 REMENIRIE . & (403) (6,287)
cash used in operations REFAzRE (38,761) (94,089)
Income tax paid BRI FEH = -
Net cash used in operating activities REEXBRFRAZASFE (38,761) (94,089)
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEBEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZF—/\F+-_A=+—HILLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

2018 2017
—E-\F —E—tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BisE THERT FAT
Cash flows from investing activities RETERERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEAME - BB REE (137) (2,301)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME - BE MEEEHRE 962 -
plant and equipment
(Payment) refund of escrow money (Z)REFE (16,302) 20,844
Investment in associates NN/ 72&% - (12,764)
Change in pledged bank deposits EHEMRITERE 7,401 (5,649)
Interest received BUH B 2 1
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing  R&EZFE (FiA), iz (8,074) 131
activites 3 Eﬁ%%ﬁ ____________________________________________________________
Cash flows from financing activities METEERESRE
Borrowings raised BEFSHRIA - 80,000
Interest paid ERFE (5,779) (4,389)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing  BEEE (FTA) FiEL < (5,779) 75,611
activites E E%%%E ____________________________________________________________
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IE%&E%%F#@Z?JEM‘)‘%%E (52,614) (18,347)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fERB ) o & 551 182
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E’%ﬁ?ﬂZIﬁﬁxﬁg@g{gm 57,422 75,587
cash and cash equivalents at end of year RERZBEESRBELEEY 5,359 57,422
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBEE/YZ A
Bank and cash balances RIT LR MR 5,359 57,422
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Graphene Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability. The address
of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place
of business is Room 1908-1916, 19/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
as at the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, (i) the Company became aware that a winding-
up petition was made against HK Guoxin Investment Group
Limited ("HK Guoxin”) by EMEBEEEHEREEEFTRA
a] (the "Petitioner”) in the High Court of Hong Kong on 10
December 2018 on the ground that HK Guoxin is indebted
towards the Petitioner a debt of HK$170,000,000, and (ii)
RSM Corporate Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited claiming that
Messrs. Osman Mohammed Arab and Lai Wing Lun have
been appointed as receivers (the “Receivership”) of the
2,112,395,735 shares held by HK Guoxin in the Company. The
Company is not in the position to ascertain the validity of the
Petition and the Receivership and the outcome thereof. The
Company is now in the course of taking legal advice on the
matters mentioned above in order to assess its legal positions.
Up to the date of these consolidated financial statements, no
significant information has been received by the Company
so far. Before the winding-up petition and claiming from the
receivers, HK Guoxin, which is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong, is the immediate parent and Mr. Li Feng Mao, the sole
beneficial owner of HK Guoxin and a director of the Company,
is the ultimate controlling party of the Company.

—REH

FREGEASEERAE([ARF]) ARER
EFMAMERAR - SR A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda » EZ &£ AT HE
88 30 FRFDBEF L 19 1 1908-1916
ZE o ARBIRGHREBHERZFIARAF
([BERZFT)) EAR 7T ©

ADAB—MREERAT  KHBATZ
E BEBHNE AN BRRNIE -

ARREE(ESDRE  RAMZER
BB HmEH (VAR RIEEEMERE
MELCEEBERAATEFANDR-E
—N\FETZATERBEES S AR EEBE
EHEREEEARAR(BEEHE]) %
HEREFE ERAEEBEEHERER
—15 170,000,000 78 JTC O E TS + M (i) 28 A 3
TEEENERARNEBEER LA RTE
BAECEZEAEERHERAENAQNT
2,112,395, 735 R D M B A o KR FEE
BEEELEEZARMERHEER - KAF
BRTES FMEFSHEEER - UFHE
ERMRN c HERRMBE  ARRESI
BUWHERER - NZTEEBREFNEREZ
TEE ANBLER - HERE - (—HMREBE
M 2 ARVABEEERAR]) » MEEXLE
(BBEEZH—EXBEAREARAESR)
BRRBIEEIERTT ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

2.

46

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$88,822,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$196,641,000 as at 31 December
2018 and had net cash outflow from operating activities of
approximately HK$38,761,000 during the year. Notwithstanding
this fact, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis as
the Group is expected to have sufficient financial resources
to meet its obligation as they fall due for at least the next
twelve months based on its projected cash flow forecasts. The
Group'’s Directors have reviewed the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2018, including its working capital
and bank and cash balances, together with the projected cash
flow forecasts for the next twelve months and the Directors
consider that the Group is financially viable to continue as a
going concern.

In addition, the Group can also improve its financial position,
immediate liquidity and cash flows, by adopting the following
measures:

(@ the Directors will take action to reduce costs;
(b)  the Directors will renew bank borrowings; and

(c)  the Directors are in the process to sell certain investment
properties.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
as current assets. The effects of these potential adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
Sstatements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2018.
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The
adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result
in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group's financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group has
already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new
and revised HKFRSS but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have a material impact
on its results of operations and financial position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
investment properties and certain financial instruments which
are carried at fair values.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSS requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the Directors
to exercise its judgements in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

3.

%g%ﬂ&@%ﬂ?%%ﬁﬁ%
e 3]

AEAEBORMMBT GRS (&
BERTEAE]) BMEANKEREXHKEH
YR T \F—A—BRBERZHETR
RIEFTBBUMBHREER ([ EEM KRS E
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KR - ARERAFRSBEFE 2R
REEARS AW ARELENEES) -

ZER B K 8 AR B AR R R AR R RT K
RIERTEAMBHRE LR - KEBEEHAT
HREH] M B AV REERINF
& BEADRERDZEFN] REERTE
AR EERNEG T E KL KE LM BN
EREATE -

EESTHHE

TR A M RBRORREB GG EM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—Z

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

48

(CONTINUED)

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity
but is not control or joint control over those policies. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible, including potential
voting rights held by other entities, are considered when
assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for
impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

4. EEETHE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in
reserves is recognised in the consolidated reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 EHZE—ZT—
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

NET-A=T—BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial

position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in

the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on

disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

52

(CONTINUED)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the
date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ
materially from those that would be determined using fair
values at the end of each reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such
buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve, except to
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the
same asset previously recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, in which case the increase is credited to consolidated
profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously
expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the
revaluation of such buildings is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if
any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of that asset.

Depreciation of revalued buildings is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable
revaluation surplus remaining in the properties revaluation
reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Other property, plant and equipment held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4. EEETHE (&)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (d) Y% - BERKE (E)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs or revalued
amounts less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful
lives are as follows:

Over the term of the lease of
52 years
Buildings Over their estimated useful lives
of 40 years
Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Furniture, equipment 2 to Syears
and motor vehicles

Leasehold land

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed
and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

(e) Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An investment
property is measured initially at its cost including all direct
costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated
at its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in
fair value of the investment property are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

If an inventory becomes an investment property, any
resulting difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the property, and is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(CONTINUED)

(f) Leases
The Group as lessee
(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessor
(i) Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease.

(g) Inventories
(i) Horticultural plants

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h) Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in consolidated profit

or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration

paid is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in consolidated profit or loss.

4. EEETHE (&)

(hBEZARKLEIEHTE

)

EASERAERITASNGRIXZETH
TR eREENRERBERGAMB

AR AT LARER,

HWEBEWRIRERE 26 OENEm
B AEEEBEEZBRID AR
R B [0 B ¢ Sk AR B W BB R AR
BEEZBABYFEERR M E R -
TMERE % BB 2R HIRERY - RIAR LA
REMEE - REULER - HEBREE
B ZEEZRAERD WREZEN

W& E 2 ZRINER A E R -

HWBE AR A B EERER - BU
SERE - AR IEBREMEAE - BK
IRz eMBEZRAEED NRE

MERZ ZBEN R A IEETER

ETHMEE

HeEREEDREANEER - AARBIK
TR TE AN B T 5 P Il AT B R A S A
BER  AIZEENR S B RELER
RN TER - XNTRAFEMEE
EIERZRAER - EEBBREAT
BE5ER 2 RE RS - WEEBERR
RPEIRZRE 2 HERERHKAR

BNRS AR ZR AR ©

Annual Report 2018 « —Z&— \F &

55



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

56

(i) Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

Financial assets at amortised cost; and

Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of
the following conditions:

— the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses
recognised in consolidated profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest income
and dividend income are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

(j) Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with
the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result
from all possible default events over the expected life
of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that represents the expected credit losses
that result from default events on that financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the
required amount is recognised in consolidated profit or loss
as an impairment gain or 0ss.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

58

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

M

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity
instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

(m) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

(n) Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

(o) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(p) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

— the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

— the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

— the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.
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e M HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZF—/\F+-_A=+—HILLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(q) Other revenue

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over

the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest

method.

60

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

(r) Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Pension obligations

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the " MPF Scheme ") under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(r) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Pension obligations (Continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries registered in
Japan are members of the pension scheme operated by
the Japan local government. The subsidiaries in Japan
are required to contribute certain pre-fixed amounts of
contribution, according to the level of income for each
employee to the pension scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group in respect of the
pension scheme is the required contributions under the
pension scheme.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

(s) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

62

(CONTINUED)

(t) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
consolidated profit or loss because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #H#Z=—ZF—/\F+-A=+—HLLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(t) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred
tax for such investment properties are measured based
on the expected manner as to how the properties will be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.

(u) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—Z
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

—N\FE+_A=+—HILLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others);

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member);

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party,

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such
a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to

the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (A);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #H#Z=—ZF—/\F+-A=+—HLLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(ViDA person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or to a parent of the Company.

(v) Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash- generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in consolidated profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

66

(CONTINUED)

(v) Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in consolidated profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase.

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(x) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ##ZE—ZF—\F+-_A=+T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon certain measures taken by the Directors to
improve the Group's financial position, immediate liquidity,
cash flows, profitability and operations as explained in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the Directors have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's
investment properties are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred tax for investment
properties, the Directors have adopted the presumption
that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below:
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

5.

68

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a) Fair value of investment properties
The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair value of the investment properties. In
determining the fair value, the valuer has utilised a method
of valuation which involves certain estimates. The Directors
have exercised their judgment and are satisfied that the
method of valuation and inputs used are reflective of the
current market conditions.

(b) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and doubtful
debts based on assessments of the recoverability of
the trade and other receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts, in
particular of a loss event, requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been
changed.

(c) Income tax

Determining income tax provisions involves judgment
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions. The
management evaluates tax implications of transactions and
tax provisions are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of
such transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for tax losses not yet used and temporary
deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can
only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the
unused tax credits can be utilised, the management’s
judgment is required to assess the probability of future
taxable profits. Management’s assessment is constantly
reviewed and deferred tax assets are recognised if it
becomes probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ=—ZF—/\F+-_A=+—HILEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk
and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in the functional currencies of the
Group entities, including HKD and Japanese Yen (“JPY"). The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through
its investment in equity securities. The Directors monitor
the price risk and will consider other necessary actions
when significant price risks is anticipated. The Group's
equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity securities
quoted on the Stock Exchange. The Group has minimal
equity price risk.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

70

(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables, investments at fair value through
profit or loss and cash and cash equivalents. In order to
minimise credit risk, the Directors have delegated a team to
be responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures. In addition, the
Directors review the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt regularly to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are recognised for irrecoverable debts. The credit
risks on bank and cash balances and investments at
fair value through profit or loss are limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group'’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing
basis throughout each reporting period by comparing the
risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. Especially the following information is
used:
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. A ER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) &=k (&)
- internal credit rating; — WNEMEERR

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
customer’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the customer;

— significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the customer, including changes in the
payment status of customers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
customer is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is when
the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within
60 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a customer failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group
normally categorises a loan or receivable for write off
when a debtor fails to make contractual payments greater
than 180 days past due. Where loans or receivables have
been written off, the Group, if practicable and economical,
continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to
recover the receivable due.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

72

(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities is as
follows:

Effective
interest Less than
rate 1 year

BBRAZ YR-F

6.

B EEERE (&)

(d)RBEESRER
AEBBEDEHERBAIRERZ
nBESH/FUBRREESTEE M
B mEEEERBAZRBESETRK -
AEECHBEZHNBEBATAT :

Between Between Total Total
1and 2 2and 5 undiscounted carrying
years years  cash flows amount

AEBRE
—E@F MERF REAR AREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx T TEx T T
At 31 December 2018 R=ZF-N\fF
+=A=1+-A
Trade and other payables &5 & A i EfTERIE - 9,112 - - 9,112 9,112
Bank borrowings (note)  $RATREE (MizE) 2.972% 201,563 - - 201,563 200,000
210,675 - - 210,675 209,112
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+-R=1+-8
Trade and other payables & 5 R At ERfERIE - 10,432 - - 10,432 10,432
Bank borrowings (note)  #R1TIEE (FiFH) 2.656% 204,478 - - 204,478 200,000
214,910 - - 214910 210,432

Note:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“on demand or less than 1 year” time band in the above maturity analysis.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position and breach of the
undertaking as stated in bank facilities, the Directors believe all amounts
due or owing by the Company to the bank (including principal and interest
accrued thereon) shall become immediately due and payable by the
Company.

China Graphene Group Limited ¢ FE&AEEERA A

B EE

B ER GX 2 BT B A L
RBHE ST RERE SR —F] B
B - 8 A M 2 BB AOR R A
ROAMETANER  EERAFAS
AR SRR 2 RE (RS
REE RIS #8325 8 K A A A A K
fi -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(e) Interest rate risk

6. MEEREE(HE)

(e) RI=E b

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and Prime rate
arising from the Group’s HKD denominated borrowing.

At 31 December 2018, if the interest rates had been
100 basis points lower with all other variables held
constant, consolidated loss for the year would have been
HK$2,000,000 lower (2017: consolidated profit would have
been HK$2,000,000 higher), arising mainly as a result of
lower interest expense on bank borrowings. If interest rates
had been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss for the year would have
been HK$2,000,000 higher (2017: consolidated profit would
have been HK$2,000,000 lower), arising mainly as a result of
higher interest expense on bank borrowings.

AEERERENXEREBRHRA
SEABTAHEREMEE ZBBRT
R B R BN EHNE -

RZE—N\FE+=_F=+—8" {7
ETBI00EE S MEMMAA I ZFAE
WIRTE BIFANGZEBEETBRY
2,000,000/ 7T (ZE—+4F : &M
#AN#92,000,0007T) © EBRMANRIETT
BEAMEFAIRD o WFHE 100 BE
B EMmmAm A EEREFTE - BIF
R 4R A B 18 15 1 11 49 2,000,000 7T ( =
T—+F ¢ &REE M T B 492,000,000
BIr)  EBRANBITEER SR E
hne

(f) categories of financial instruments ) emITEER
2018 2017
—E-)N\#F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ESMEE 16,549 76,231
(including cash and cash equivalents) (PREESRASEEY)
Investments at fair value through profit or loss & @IEzIE A FEVIEE Z 24
- Designated as such upon initial recognition — RV R 5 E 645 737
17,194 76,968
Financial liabilities: S@as:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEHEAAY R S RBE 209,112 210,432
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

74

(CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values (Continued)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

6. MEEREE ()

(8) A& (&)
(@) AFEBRKFHE

Fair value measurement using:

AVEERAZER
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HHE -3 b F=R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TEx TR
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N§
+=A=+-8
Investments at fair value ERBRBRATETIERZ
through profit or loss: RE:
— Listed equity securities - FMRAES 645 - - 645
Property, plant and WE - BERRE
equipment
— Building held for own -BEERZ BT - - 85 85
use - Hong Kong
Investment Properties REME
— Residential units - HongKong ~ —EFBA—F# - 369,200 - 369,200
645 369,200 85 369,930
At 31 December 2017 R-E-t&
+ZA=+-H
Investments at fair value BREREATVETIERZ
through profit or loss: RE:
— Listed equity securities — ERARES 737 - - 737
Property, plant and nE - BEREE
equipment
— Building held for own —REEBRZETES - - 90 90
use - Hong Kong
Investment Properties RENME
— Residential units - HongKong ~ —EFBM—FA - 358,400 - 358,400
737 358,400 ) 359,227

Annual Report 2018 « —Z— /\5F &3 75



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BERERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(g) Fair values (Continued) (8) A FE (&)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) RIEFE=ZREZLNFEFTEZEEY

based on level 3: V3
2018 2017
= A
Buildings held Buildings held
for own use - for own use -
Hong Kong Hong Kong
B E
Description BRZETF - BRAZEF-
ER B oy
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FET
At 1 January w—A—H 90 97
Depreciation charge for the year (#) FEMEERA® 3) @)
Net losses recognised in consolidated profit or loss #)  Réz4 BMERFEE #) (2) ()
At 31 December W“+ZA=+—H 85 )

(# Include gains or losses for assets held at end of ) BEREERAREREZRE

reporting period (5) )

RBEPRESFEBRTHERZBE
RELRFEFTEER(BERBAEE
ZEE) NG EEERANKEER
BlEGFELIR

The total gains or losses recognised in consolidated
profit or loss and depreciation charge for the year
including those for assets held at end of reporting
period are presented in operating and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 ##ZE—ZF—\F+-_A=+T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.
(CONTINUED)

MHERER (&)

(g) Fair values (Continued)
(c) Disclosures of valuation process used by the

(g) A¥E (&)
CR=-—FE-NEFR-_FE—+FF+=ZH

Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 31 December 2018
and 2017:

The Group's financial controller is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The financial controller reports
directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the financial controller and the
Board of Directors at least once a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent
experience to perform the valuations.

Key unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements are mainly:

— Cost of construction
Cost per square feet to completion was estimated
based on the type of building structure and taking
into account market data on current construction
costs for similar properties.

— Estimated depreciation
Deducting all sources of depreciation by straight-
line method over the estimated useful life, including
physical deterioration and functional and economic
obsolescence and adjusting by the physical
condition of the building.

Level 2 fair value measurements
BE_ROTETE

Description Valuation technigue Inputs
JHAE AERE AR

Assets Liabilities Assets
BE

=+t—H FEEEHZGERFL
R R FEEBIRBGELERBA
BB HF -

AEBE G RER BB REET
BN EERABEZATEFE &
REZRRTEFE - MBREER
REEGERIENTETE - B
REREEESFE BT RMGE
TR KBRS °

REZRRTFEFEMS - NREHK
BREBFEAGERITEEER MO
ETHELR ZINBEESRK -

E=MAFEAEMRBZEETH
B \BEIER

— BEAX
REMZEURENEENERE
R R 5t KRB R AR B T 45
BBRIE ST T I A TEBRA ©

— A
BB ERES BT ER
5T {2 4 2 PO DAL FORED B
£ OEEEBRRYENRE
ARE - CEETEERRME
3 -

Fair value
NFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHT

Liabilities
= BE B

Residential units located in - Direct comparison  Comparable

Hong Kong
fIRES 2 FEEf

approach sales

BELEEA

transaction

AL EBHE

5

Capitalised

net rental

income
EeN|eika
WAFERE

369,200

358,400 =
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

6.

78

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6.

(CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values (Continued)
(c) Disclosures of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 31 December 2018
and 2017: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements
B=RATEHE

MHERER (&)

(g) A& (&)
COR-—EFE-NFR-E—+F+ZH
=+—H XEFBEAZIEEEFL
RAFEEIRBIEGEET ERBA
BB HE ()

Fair value
AFE
Effect on fair
value for
Valuation increase of 2018 2017
Description technique Unobservable inputs inputs “E-N\% “TtF
HK$'000 HK$'000
‘ TAn TEL
GAHE
i
R HER TBERGAHE LB 2 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE & EE aff
Building held for ~ Based on net Cost of construction of Increase
own use replacement HK$1,210 (2017: HK$1,294)
— Hong Kong cost per square feet

D

REERZBT  FEERAE BRERARBYIRI20ET BN
5 (Z2—LE 1\ 94%7)
Estimated depreciation over Decrease

the useful ife of 58 years
(2017 58 years)

RUERERBE B
(2% 5858
CHEiE

85 = 90 -

During the two years, there were no changes in the
valuation techniques used.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

7.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

7. W=

FARKE WS 2 AT

2018 2017
—E-)N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Rental income WA 10,747 10,126
Provision of property management services RERBDEEE IR < W 289 201
Sale of plants and provision of REHEEY MRFERERE 4,894 4,122
horticultural services 2 W
Loan interest income B EIRA 167 60
Sale of graphene ARFEHE 432 63
16,529 14,572
OTHER INCOME 8. HtA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET
Interest income on bank deposits IRITF T U A 2 1
Dividend income from equity investments BRI E FriS 2 IR B 29 26
Gain on disposals of property, MEWZE - BB R&E 2 WS 278 -
plant and equipment
Reversal of over-provided expenses BEFERBRRGRD 1,483 -
in prior years
Reversal of allowance for trade receivables 2 SRR R B 164 -
Others HA 648 514
2,604 541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

9.

10.

80

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HtmRESE
2018 2017
—E-N\#F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value gain on investment properties WEWE 2 AT ERE 10,800 110,081
Fair value (I0ss) gain on investments at BEBBREATEYERZ (92) 156
fair value through profit or l0ss "EZ AHE(BE) ks
Write-off prepayment for property, M - BE RRETER (54,516) -
plant and equipment FRIE 2 I8H
(43,808) 110,237
SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. D EBEK

The Group's operating segments are identified on the basis
of internal report about the components of the Group that
are regularly received by the chief operating decision maker
in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. The chief operating decision maker is the
Company's Directors.

The Group has five operating segments as follows:

Property investment engages in leasing out residential

properties

Horticultural services provides horticultural services

Graphene — manufactures and sells graphene
manufacturing and graphene-related
and sales products

Property management —  provides building management
and other related services
services

Money lending provides loan financing to
corporate entities and

individuals
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AREDEEESEARE AARERES
SRR R TE BN AEE S P
NHBEHREESE - TERBREES
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REBERREZLEDRWT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not include
unallocated administrative expenses, share of losses of
associates, unallocated other income, unallocated other
gains and losses, finance costs and income tax expense.
Segment assets do not include pledged bank deposits,
interests in associates and unallocated corporate assets.
Segment liabilities do not include bank borrowings, unallocated
corporate liabilities, current tax liabilities and deferred tax
liabilities.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as
if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current
market prices.

2 HEHR (&)

B E DRI R E TR E m MRS < 5K
MRBEN - YARSEBHAH MRS
HERREBR - WEREBEIHER

RED BN IR R A M ISR AP
AERER - pREMNHERL T BIEADA
TTHRFAX - BIEBERBER  ROKEM
WA~ ROBCEMb Y E REE - BLE KA
KAGHAN - nBEELTEHEEERR
TEF REERRZEARARDEARE
E - 2BABRYTNERERITEE ROk
AAE  HRHERERECHBARE -

REE K BRHE RERTIM - BINERE
HHE MR TIME =7 (BURIRESHE)ED
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 10. 2 EHR®R (&)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) 7 e
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers RErZEmdRBLREPHEBELEE S
by major products or service and geographical location of HIPRBEPEHZBADIFAT -

customers is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Disaggregated by major products or services BEEEMIBREDIF
— Provision of property management services —WEEB RS 2 RMH 289 201
- Sale of plants and provision — R EBHERY RRHEERS 4,894 4122
of horticultural services
- Sale of graphene —REGEE 432 63
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFA LA 5,615 4,386
- Rental income —HsBA 10,747 10,126
— Loan interest income —BEFFEHA 167 60
Total revenue ONCE 16,529 14,572
Disaggregated by geographical location BREFPHBMNEN T
of customers
- Hong Kong &8 5,183 4,323
- Japan —-BX 432 63
5,615 4,386
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 10. ¥R (E)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (a) 2 s (48)

Timing of revenue recognition

AT R
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
At a point At a point
intime Over time Total intime ~ Over time Total
RER/  HEERE REE  BEEEMHE
RHENED EBmER #@cr BHEEER EEmER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THL THL THL
Provision of property MEER IR < R
management services - 289 289 - 201 201
Sale of plants and provision of K& #EEY R
horticultural services REEZ RS 897 3,997 4,894 578 3,544 4122
Sale of graphene REGHEE 432 - 432 63 - 63
Total st 1,329 4,286 5,615 641 3,745 4,386
Provision of property management services YHEEEREZ12H

Revenue from property management services recognised
when the services are rendered.

Sale of plants and provision of horticultural services
The Group sells plants to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the plants has transferred,
being when the plants are delivered to a customer, there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the plants and the customer has obtained
legal titles to the plants.

Revenue from horticultural services is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Sale of plants and provision of horticultural services to
customers are normally made with credit terms of 30 days.
A receivable is recognised when the plants are delivered or
services are rendered to the customers as this is the point
in time or over time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

RUEYMEEIERSEELNRER IR

TERFRER o

HEEYRIZHEERE
AEERFEFHEEY - HEREHR
MR FEBIEFERER - RPE®
Y SEAEFETPEMEYM IR
BTEME AXFERSEYNAEHE
B -

RERERBRSE DR ER IR
TERFRERR o

AEFHEEY MTHEZERS —RIZ
VBEMEEMEL - BUEREBEREDR
NP EFREHRRBGEER - HIEH—
2R RBER F R - (IR BIMER
R R - BURER B A EIRA -
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZE—Z

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

84

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Sale of graphene

The Group sells graphene to the customers. Sales are
recognised when control of the graphene has transferred,
being when the graphene is delivered to a customer, there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the graphene and the customer has
obtained legal titles to the graphene.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms
of 30 days. A receivable is recognised when the graphene
is delivered to the customers as this is the point in time
that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

(b) Information about operating segment profit or

loss, assets and liabilities:

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments
as provided to the chief operation decision maker for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance for the year is set out below.

Certain comparative figures on segment information
have been reclassified to conform to the current
year's presentation. The new classification on segment
information was considered to provide a more appropriate
presentation.
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—N\FE+_A=+—HILLFE

2 HEHR (&)
(a) 2 #r i3k ()

AERFHE

AEEREFHEORME fﬁEﬁAE
Mo XA B 5 P BB R 1 I M B A 2R
BEMORE - $E5E?%§—I§E??;%)5T*iﬁ]25
RIEZABTEE BEFCEEA
WH)BIERBE -

B B8 B — #1230 B M S B
fEH - EURTER G BERA TR
w - BRI A R M
BRI - SRR B A B
o

(b)ERREs RIEE - EERAECZE

*}I'
BRAASEHRIZLERREREANTF
EEBRAENRFEDBERANRED R
BERESIIT -

ERODBERZETHREFERE
5 NEAFEZ2HATA 8- 08
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 10. ¥R (E)

(b) Information about operating segment profit or (b)EBRE P EER - BEERAGBZE

loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued) #(7)
Property
management
Graphene and other
Property  Horticultural manufacturing related Money
investment Services and sales Services lending Total
NEER
RER Rift
NERE BERE LER#E el e BEER Eh
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
“E-\f  ZEB-\f  ZB-\f ZE-\E  ZE-N\F  ZE-)\%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T T T T T
Years ended 31 December 2018  EZ-E-N\F
TZA=t+-RLEE
Revenue from customers REXP W 10,747 4,984 432 289 167 16,619
Intersegment revente Pl = (90) = = = (90)
Revenue from external customers REHNERUE 10,747 4,894 432 29 167 16,529
Segment proft/(oss) HERH/ (BB 52 (2.326) (68,524) 24 47 (70,527)
Depreciation i 1,086 - 934 - - 2,020
Additions to segment non-current RENEFRBEE
assets 42 - 95 - - 137
As at 31 December 2018 RZF-\ETZA=1-H
Segment assets HBEE 378,419 2,256 4,173 790 884 386,522
Segmentliabiliies HEak 2,391 639 5,322 10 186 8,548
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

86

(b) Information about operating segment profit or

10. ZEH K (&)

(b)FREEs FiEsm - EERAEZE

loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued) ¥ (8])
Property
management
Graphene and other
Property  Horticultural  manufacturing related Money
investment Services ana sales Services lending Total
nRER
REH Rt
NERE BERE EERBE e [FEEH &
2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
e T e e T e S 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T Thn T T T Tin
Years ended 31 December 2017 HE-B-tk&
TZR=t-ALEE
Revenue from customers REEP M 10,126 4213 63 01 80 14693
Intersegment revente pERlE - (121) - - - (121
Revenue from external customers REHNERUE 10,126 412 63 21 80 14572
Segment proft/(oss) AEEH/ (B8) 92,014 (10,324) (9,064) 9 19 72,866
Depreciation nE 1,081 - 945 - - 2026
Additions to segment non-current RENEFRBEE
assets 2 - 2275 - - 2,301
As at 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-R
Segment assets HREE 369,153 2,775 62302 876 4,503 439,609
Segment liabilties HEak 5,45 719 1830 13 8 8133
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e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Information about operating segment profit or

10. FEHRK (F)
b)EREEHERR EERAEE

loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued) ()
Reconciliations of segment revenue and profit or loss DMz 8z 2 #Hk
2018 2017
—E-N\F “E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
Revenue Wz
Total revenue of reportable segments HEDBEz B 16,619 14,693
Elimination of intersegment revenue I o fEf e (90) (127)
Consolidated revenue A e 16,529 14,572
Profit or loss B#
Total (loss)/profit of reportable segments wEDRE (BR),/wFaE (70,527) 72,866
Elimination of intersegment profits s iyl ahayil (90) (127)
Share of losses of associates eI E A RE1E (330) (223)
Unallocated amounts: RABFIE
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  —#1%  BiE MRETE (16) (15)
— Finance costs —RERAE (5,943) (4,553)
— Others gains and losses —HmaEsE 460 508
— Unallocated corporate expenses —RORAFRZ (12,359) (16,564)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before tax BREtAIARE (B51R), | (88,805) 51,898
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities P EEEREEHK
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FEL
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments HREDBEBEE 386,522 439,609
Investments in associates REEE N B 2 E 12,211 12,541
Unallocated: AOE
- Pledged bank deposits —BEARITER 6,368 13,769
- Cash and cash equivalents -ReEkREEFED 168 28,432
- Other assets —HithBE 1,088 588
Consolidated total assets IREBELE 406,357 494,939
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e M HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Information about operating segment profit or

10. FEHR ()
b)EREEHERR EERAECE

loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued) (')
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities THEEEREEL R (E)
(Continued)
2018 2017
—E-N\E “E—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments WEDEBAE 8,548 8,133
Unallocated: KAl
— Bank borrowings —RITfEE 200,000 200,000
— Other liabilities —HipBfE 936 2,540
— Current tax liabilities —HIERIEaE 17 -
Consolidated total liabilities RAaBEEE 209,501 210,673
Geographical information: HEEH -

The Group's revenue from external customers by location
of operations and information about its non-current assets

BEEWH O EAREREHINETFH
Wk BREJERSEEZHAMNER

by location of assets are detailed below: YT -
Revenue Non-current assets
3% FRBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —EtHF —B-N\E —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHIT T FHT
Hong Kong BB 16,097 14,509 372,565 361,326
Japan HAR 432 63 2,353 41,216
Consolidated total RetEs 16,529 14,572 374,918 402,542

Revenue from major customers contributing 10% or

KENEXEF Kz 10% KX LT EEF

88

more to the Group’s revenue are as follows: FZWzm=T :
2018 2017
—® AFE —Tt7F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FAT
Rental income - Customer A HEWA-FFA 3,840 3,840
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e MR RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

12.

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. MERAEK

2018 2017
—B-N\fF e =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAEL
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 5,943 4,553

INCOME TAX EXPENSES . FRBBiAX
2018 2017
—B-N\F —FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ENEATHIE - BB MG

Provision for the year RERE 17 -

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31
December 2018. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements since
the Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off
against assessable profits for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

EBENNEMNEHEHE-_ZE—NF+ A
=+ —HIEFENMBFTETREM 2 16.5%
ETIREE c NERA MRS RP W ESIRE S
RIS TR - T RPN A& B A& R B 5 &S
BRAEHEEE_Z—+F+=-_A=+—8”
LIEFERERTIRUER) o

HAbith 7 ) EsF B AR IBE AR EE L P
BRORITED - REMEBZERREG
BREMX -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZE—ZF—/\F+-_A=+—HLEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 12. FAISHRX (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expenses and the TS B BB FLAT (B518), SR M TIAEE
product of (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong %IJ S ZEREERET ¢

Profits Tax is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\f§ ZE—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAHT
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518), & 7 (88,805) 51,898
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% RAMPTST R 16.5% 5T EHIFIIE
(2017: 16.5%) (ZZ—LF :165%) (14,653) 8,563
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible PHHIBAZNRERE 12,465 3,870
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BARTIRANT BT E (1,854) (18,163)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised RERAB AR EEBEOTBETE 4,870 8,496
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not A LRIA T AR EEEN
previously recognised Mg 91) (12)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AR HERE =B FHIES 2 (339) 167
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries MBARTRRENTBTE (381) (2,915)
17 -
13. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13. FR(BEE) &R
The Group's (loss)/profit for the year is stated after charging/ AEBZFR(EER),Sa A&k (GEA)
(crediting) the following: THEIBEIER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FHT
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W - B LR EITE 2,036 2,041
Fair value gain on investment properties BEWEZ A HERE (10,800) (110,081)
Operating lease charges — Land and buildings REBRNRS — T REF 5,802 5,773
Auditor's remuneration Gk
- Current —BNHA 830 705
— Under-provision in prior year — FEERETR = 250
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEMA 1,590 703
(Reversal of) allowance for inventories FERE (BR) (BT AHERA)
(included in cost of sales) (2) 149
Write-off bad debts MsHIEER 37 =
(Reversal of) allowance for trade receivables B S MW ERIE R (B E) (164) 191
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 14. EETFMX
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FiHT
Staff costs including directors’ remunerations: EIKA (BEEEME) -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e TEALRRRL 30,881 41,487
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFFH IR 1,476 880
32,357 42,367
Five highest paid individuals hEESHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year FN - AEBREESFNATRE=2(Z
included three (2017: three) directors whose emoluments are T—tF:=F)EF HMES2XWE15
reflected in the analysis presented in note 15. The emoluments 2z AP R - SR TG (ZT—+5F
of the remaining two (2017: two) individuals are set out below: MB) ALz BeENInT
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FiHT
Basic salaries and allowances BN KR 3,246 3,801
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BIREFIETEIRR 32 132
3,278 3,933
The emoluments fell within the following band: e FUATEE -
2018 2017
—E-N\%F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHAT
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000 % 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /75 £ 2,000,000 % 7T 1 1

Annual Report 2018 « —Z— /\ &3 91



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. EE IR ER

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM <
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
e FoREH MiERA  BRGIEER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TiEn T T
Name of Director EZ2R
Executive directors: HTES:
Chen Meng B - 3,005 - 18 3,023
Zhou Chen (vi) BRWM) - 2,850 - 18 2,868
- 5,855 - 36 5,891
Non-executive director: FHTESE .
Li Feng Mao, Chairman BER 0 ERE - 8,475 - 18 8,493
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTES:
directors:
Li Jing Bo (vii) ZEH (vil) 356 - - - 356
Wang Song Ling (v) TR () 360 - - - 360
Li Wai Kwan (viil) FEE (i) 333 - - - 333
1,049 8,475 - 18 9,542
Total for 2018 - N\EBE 1,049 14,330 - 54 15,433
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. EEv R RER (8)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=™M< (&)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonus  contributions Total
o5 iy 12 BB BINGHEIER =
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FEL TER FEL AR TEL
Name of Director =28
Executive directors: WTES !
Chen Meng B - 3,000 - 18 3018
Mak Tin Sang (i) BRE) - 1,180 - 7 1187
Yuan Li Min, Chief Executive B © (7HEE (i)
Officer (i - 8,000 - 18 8,018
- 12,180 - 43 12,223
Non-executive director: FHTES
Li Feng Mao, Chairman FER IR - 10,000 - 18 10,018
Independent non-executive ~ BURHTES:
directors:
Leung Po Hon (il DEE (i) 344 - - - 344
Li Jing Bo (vil ZRE Wi 360 - - - 360
Shigeki Tanaka (iv) R ) 122 - - - 122
Wang Song Ling (v) B AU 161 - - - 161
987 10,000 - 18 11,005
Total for 2017 R +EH 987 22180 - 61 23228
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

94

(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
None of the Directors waived any remuneration during the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was
no emoluments have been paid to the Directors as an

inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

Notes: (i) Mr. Mak Tin Sang resigned on 16 May 2017.
(i) Mr. Yuan Li Min resigned on 16 January 2018.
(i) Mr. Leung Po Hon resigned on 9 November 2017.
(iv)  Mr. Shigeki Tanaka resigned on 2 May 2017.
(v)  Mr. Wang Song Ling was appointed on 21 July 2017.
(vi) Mr. Zhou Chen was appointed on 1 February 2018.
(Vi) Mr. Li Jing Bo resigned on 28 December 2018.

(vii) Mr. Li Wai Kwan was appointed on 1 February 2018 and
resigned on 30 November 2018.

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

16. DIVIDENDS 16. RE
The board of directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the EFg((E5e ) T8z —\F
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 TZA=T-BLEFEREEARE(ZE
(2017: Nil). —tF )

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. B8R (BBR) &F
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earning per STEARNRER ARMMERERREE (&
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 18),/ BRI ERATEE

following data:

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAHT
(Loss)/profit: (&518), %A
(Loss)/profit for the purpose of calculating basic PEEARRHE ARG
and diluted (loss)/earning per share attributable FREAREE (BR),/&F
to owners of the Company = e (&), &H (88,822) 51,898
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
‘000 ‘000
TR F&
Number of shares: RAEE :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Mt EERERREE (BE)
for the purpose of calculating basic and BN S 8 LA T 192
diluted (loss)/ earning per share 2,819,102 2,819,102
The basic and diluted (loss)/earning per share for the years ERARAFTREE-_T—NER-_T—+F
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 were the same as the +-A=+—BHIFETEEHEENZE
Company had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue BIEER  WZREFEZERERNLES
during the years. (E518) /BFHER -
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e M HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. 1% - BMEKRE
Building held
for own use
Leasehold carried at fair  Furniture and Leasehold
land value  equipment improvement Motor vehicles Total
NATESIEZ
HELH BEERET  GARRE HE%E bt &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
Cost or valuation: HAGME
1 January 2017 RZE-+E-F-R 600 97 2137 1172 4588 8,594
Additions ME - - 8 2023 - 2301
Disposals HE - - (237) - - (237)
Deficit on revaluation AR - ) - - - )
Exchange differences EiZE - - (1) ) - ()
Elimination of accumulated depreciation 27 E % - ] - - - @3
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-H
and 1 January 2018 k=E-N\E-F-H 600 90 2171 319 4,588 10,646
Additions AE - - Al - 66 137
Disposals HE - - - - (1,725) (1,725)
Deficit on revaluation B - V] - = = 2
Exchange differences EiZE - - 1 59 (111) (51)
Elimination of accumulated depreciation 27 E % - (3) = = = ()
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=1-H 600 85 2,249 3,250 2,818 9,002
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE
1 January 2017 R-E-+£-F-A 255 = 585 391 733 1,964
Charge for the year FEEYH 12 3 445 542 1,039 2,001
Disposals HE - - (237) - - (237)
Exchange differences EXZE - - - - 181 181
Elimination on revaluation EftRHE = (3) = = = ]
At31 December 2017 RZE—tETZA=T-H
and 1 January 2018 k=F-N\&-h-A 267 - 793 933 1,953 3,946
Charge for the year TERRH 12 3 462 546 1,013 2,036
Disposals & = = - - (1,041) (1,041)
Exchange differences BEXEE = = @) 5 (155) (154)
Elimination on revaluation RS - 3 o - - ‘)
At 31 December 2018 R-E-\&E+-A=t-H 279 - 1,251 1,484 1,770 4,784
Carrying amount FEFE
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\FT-A=1-A 321 85 998 1,766 1,048 4218
At31 December 2017 RZB-t5+ZA=1-A 333 90 1,384 2,258 2,635 6,700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18.¥1%  BERZRE (&)

(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2018, the leasehold land of approximately
HK$321,000 (2017: approximately HK$333,000) and the
buildings of approximately HK$85,000 (2017: approximately
HK$90,000) are pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$406,000 (2017:
approximately HK$423,000).

The Group's buildings held for own use were revalued at 31
December 2018 and 2017 on net replacement cost approach
by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent firm of
chartered surveyors.

If the buildings held for own use were stated on the historical
cost basis, their carrying amounts would be as follows:

NZZE—NF+ZA=+—08 " #321,000
BB E L (ZF—+tF : 49333,000/%5
T0) K #185,000 B T2 EF(ZE—+F 1 4
90,000 % 7T) B IIE AN & B 4 406,000 7
T(—F—+4 : £9423,000/8 7)) RITIEE
HHS -

AEERIEERZETRBE ST EMTT
HERTERAARE-NER=_E—+
FT-A=t—BRFEEXNANEETESR

BB M2 ETFTIRELKAAZEES - H
FREEWNT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAHT

Cost (DN 780 780
Accumulated depreciation 2itine (463) (444)
317 336
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e M HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ—ZF—/\F+-_A=+—HILLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE
2018 2017
“B-N\F T tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January n—HA—H 358,400 -
Transfer from inventories MmFEEA - 248,319
Fair value gains INSSE & 10,800 110,081
At 31 December R+=A=+— 369,200 358,400

Investment properties were transferred from inventories on
31 December 2017. Investment properties were revalued as
at 31 December 2018 on the direct comparison approach by
reference to market evidence of recent transactions for similar
properties by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an independent
firm of chartered surveyors.

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of investment

properties pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings
amounted to HK$369,200,000 (2017: HK$358,400,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

20. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 20. REFE ARIZRE
2018 2017
—E2-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Unlisted investments: FELEMERE :

Share of net assets [EIEEEFE 12,211 12,541
Details of the Group's associates at 31 December 2018 are as REERZZ—NF+TZA=T—AREZ
follows: RRZIGEFIBIT -

Percentage of ownership
interest/voting power/
profit sharing
HRRRE/RER/
HEEzEDL
Place of incorporation/
Name registration Issued and paid-up capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
&8 HRRIRESHS BRARARRE E# HE IZER
Five Color Stone Technalogy The Cayman Islands 30,000,000 ordinary shares of USS0.195 each 28% - Investment holding
Corporation REHE 000000k EHRAEB0.195FTHERR RER
SERARNRAERAR Taiwan Registered! capital of TWD1,000,000 - 2% Investment holding
aE FHER1,00000057 5% REBR
Taiwan Mutron Applied Taiwan Registered capital of TWD1,000,000 - 204% Manufacturing and sale of graphene
Materials Limited and graphene-related products
SR BN RAERLR g FHRER100000037 8% REREEREERAZEERER
21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
2018 2017
—E2-N\E§ —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Horticultural plants BEiEY 527 462
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ESZ RHEMEWIRIE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FHT
Trade receivables B EWERIE 2,032 958
Allowance for doubtful debts AR (27) (191)
2,005 767
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment W - BE RERENTENZUE = 37,442
Deposits paid for investment properties (note 36a)  FEWMER LIRS (51 363) 1,500 -
Other prepayments HAth BT RIE 1,067 2,426
Rental and other deposits BEff e hEMES 2,628 2,386
Other tax receivables H A e SR 440 -
Other receivables H A fEUERIR 189 1,887
7,829 44,908
Analysed as: DR
Current assets MBEE 6,329 7,466
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,500 37,442
7,829 44,908
The credit term is generally 30 days. The Group seeks to EEHI—MA30H « REE B EREE
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. BRVGRIBERSEREEE - EETHRT®
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the Directors. HA%E R o
The aging analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice REZAMGEZE 5 EKARTE (IR EE)
date, and net of allowance, is as follows: 2RO
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. B REMEWERE (&)

(CONTINUED)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
0to 90 days 0&290H 1,883 705
91 to 180 days 912180 H 112 60
18110 365 days 181£2365H 8 2
Over 365 days #3365 H 2 -
2,005 767

As at 31 December 2018, an allowance was made for
estimated irrecoverable trade receivables of approximately
HK$27,000 (2017: approximately HK$191,000).

RZE-N\F+ZA=1+—08  HsH8EHK
Ol fE Y BRTE 2 B A3 49 27,0008 T (ZF—+
F : £7191,00087T) °

Reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables: FEUSARTE ~ AR -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At 1 January m—A—H 191 -
Allowance for the year FREE (164) 191
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 27 191

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on share credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward
looking information.

REEERBBNBRELERFEIR TOE S
HEEE S RWERAEAENE R E
HIRFTERREEEE - RFTERBEES
B ESRERECREAZEERRESH
LBMAE#NE B EEBRITESHE
HEH
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. ESRHEHMEWRE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Upto3 3t06 6t0 Over
months months 12 months 12 months
Current past due past due past due past due Total
bk
=fER BH=z L fak i)
L EDAN ~EB t=fiR t=fiR h
At 31 December 2018 R-Z-\E+-A=1-H
Weighted average expected loss rate BT BESIER - - 15% 100% -
Receivable amount (HK$'000) EheE(TEn) 1,560 398 53 19 2 2,032
Loss allowance (HK$000) BiRBE(TEL) = - 8 (19 - @)
At31 December 2017 REF-F+ZAZT-A
Weighted average expected loss rate IET B EER - - - - 99%
Receivable amount (HKS'000) e (ThT) i Bl 60 - 193 958
Loss allowance (HK$000) FERE(TAL) - - - - (191 (191)

23. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. BAFEFTABRZZRE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Equity securities, at fair value BAES - BRTE
Listed in Hong Kong REB LT 645 737
The fair values of listed securities are based on current bid EHBEHF 2 A HENRITEABEITHE

prices.
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASHAND 24. BT EHURESRES

25.

CASH EQUIVALENTS ZEW
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFERSE 11,727 71,191
Less: Pledged bank deposits o BEARITER (6,368) (13,769)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEFED 5,359 57,422

The Group's pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to bank to secure bank borrowings granted to the
Group as set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
Sstatements.

BTSRRI 5 26 ©

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25. EZ R HMENERE

AEBEEERRITEFFIECERTRITER
BTy AKERITEENER  FHIANEGE

2018 2017

—E-N\E§ —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FEL

Trade payables B S EMNIRE 96 150
Other payables and accrued charges Hin fEFERIB R EATE A 9,016 8,618
Amount due to a director N —UEEEHE = 1,664
Other tax payables HipfEfHITR 127 -
Receipt in advance TBUWERIE 245 241
9,484 10,673

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

BHRMNERERERERAY

receipt of goods, is as follows: e -
2018 2017
—E-N\E “E—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
0t0 90 days 0£90H 96 150
The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and B —UESeRAERE AEREREXK
repayable on demand. Eig -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

26.

104

BANK BORROWINGS

26. SRITIEE

2018 2017

—2-\F T t7F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Bank loans RITER 200,000 200,000

The bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities as
they contain a repayment on demand clause. According to the
repayment schedule, the bank borrowings are repayable as
follow:

MR R ERE R R M
ARBEE - BBEREE - RITEER
SR TR -

2018 2017

—B-N\f T+

HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx FHAT

Within 1 year —FR" 120,000 120,000
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERER 80,000 80,000
200,000 200,000

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are
denominated in HKD.

The interest rate of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31
December 2018 and 2017 was 2% per annum over one-month
HIBOR or 2% per annum below HKD prime rate, whichever is
lower.

The bank loans are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

26.

27.

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Bank loans of HK$200,000,000 (2017: HK$200,000,000) are
secured by (i) the investment properties of HK$369,200,000
as disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements (2017: HK$358,400,000), (i) the land and buildings
of approximately HK$406,000 as disclosed in note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements (2017: approximately
HK$423,000), (iii) bank deposits of not less than HK$6,000,000
and (iv) assignment of rental income from properties to a
designated bank account which is charged to the bank.

During the year, the Company has violated several covenants
attached to the interest-bearing borrowings. Breaches in
meeting the covenants would permit the bank to immediately
call borrowings.

DEFERRED TAXATION

At 31 December 2018, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$335,161,000 (2017: approximately
HK$399,922,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses of approximately HK$301,259,000
(2017: approximately HK$380,403,000) that are available for
offsetting against future profits do not expire under current
tax legislation. The tax loss of approximately HK$33,902,000
(2017: approximately HK$19,519,000) attributable to the Japan
are available for offsetting against future profits that may be
carried forward for nine years for Japan income tax purpose.
All tax losses are subjected to be agreed by tax authorities.

26.

27.

RITHEE (B)

R 17 f& & 200,000,000 ;o ( =& — £ F :
200,000,0007% 7T ) LA T 71 % 18 fE K 1 - (i)
REEAVBERERNE 9B ENIEEME
369,200,000% 7T ( =& —+4F : 358,400,000
BT (A RE BRI 18 T R A
T R AEF 4 406,0008 T (ZF—HF + 4
423,000/ 7T) + (i) $RI77F 3T 7 6,000,000
BT (V) EEYENTE S A ZIRF TIRT
KIS ERITHRP

TR ARBERETHRBEZHHR
o MERETTR - |RITAIAIRMEEES -

ELEB A

RZE—-—NF+ZA=+—8 '  K&5H
AHEERAREFHRDARBEBELY
#335,161,000%8 T( = T — £ F: &
399,922,000 7T ) o B A B DA TEOBI R 2R &
R MW ERZEHBEEERERELEHIEE
E o BEBRIIBBER - 250 BIEHEHEK
RSt A 9 B B E5 18 49 301,259,000 8 70 (=
— 4 4 #7380,403,0007 7T ) I & F| H -
FRVESR 88 15 2108 F & FE (G B AN HY B TE B 1R 4
33,902,000 7T ( —F — 44 : 4919,519,000
BIT) c AIRRBANGEREEIF - IAKIE
EEENSEHEERZRAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—/\F+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

28.

106

SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Authorised: JETE ¢
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 20,000,000,000 f% &% 1,000,000 1,000,000
EE0.05 BT & mix
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
2,819,102,084 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each 2,819,102,084 &% 140,955 140,955

H{E0.05 /8 TR E @Ak

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maximise the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of debt and equity balance.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Total debt comprises bank
borrowings. Adjusted capital comprises all components of
equity (i.e. share capital, retained profits and other reserves).

China Graphene Group Limited » FEFEASEER AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 EHZE—ZT—
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

28. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

The Group’s long-term policy, which was unchanged from
2017, is that net debt should be in the range of 45% to 96%
of adjusted capital. This policy aims to ensure that the Group
secures access to finance at a reasonable cost and lowers

NET-A=T—"BLFE

28.

B2 (&)

AEEZRPBRRE_Z—+FHR - #5E
15 5 REJE L 48 3 B & 7K 2 45% & 96% &[]
W e IR E ERARANEBKTIASIERA
ﬁé?:arﬁﬂ‘iéf ]Ilzﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁméﬂl]%q:iﬁéfﬁﬁ

its net of tax weighted average cost of capital. The debt- KFE MR- NFF+_A=+T—HEKZ=
to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 December 2018 and at 31 E—+tF T A=+ AGEBHLEAEER
December 2017 were as follows: tEEmT
2018 2017
—E-)\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Total debt BB 200,000 200,000
Less: pledged bank deposits B BRI (6,368) (13,769)
Less: cash and cash equivalents o ReRREEEY (5,359) (57,422)
Net debt BEHE 188,273 128,809
Total equity B 196,856 284,266
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio ERHARRER LXK 96% 45%
The increase in the debt-to-adjusted capital ratio during RZZT—\F - EBHFABREERLZIE N
2018 resulted primarily from decrease in bank balances. The FERHARIRTA ﬁ%)ﬁ FTEN - REBIZR
externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: KA TINRE AR FE
(i) in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has )ﬁT”&hﬁA%ﬁxﬁﬁZLmi@u CHARE
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) A% & % D #5 25% 2 B ¢ R (i) JFE?TEJrEf

to meet financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing
borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars weekly
on substantial share interests showing the non-public float
and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit
throughout the year. As at 31 December 2018, 25.07% (2017:
25.07%) of the shares were in public hands.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the
bank to immediately call borrowings.

SRz BTS2 o

REBEGREZEERNDBFPERLEREHYIRIE
RBRATHBIERMNER 2RE - ZHE
BARAEEREBEAFEN—HET25%Z
ZEAZFRERT R_E—N\F+=A
=+—8 BHZAREREAR25.07% (=
T—+4F : 2507%) °

i BT - RITAIAIREEIEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29. A RQA TR R E R ESE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) BT BEMRR T

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R—ERBRARZEE 7,813 7,813
Pledged bank deposits BHERRITER 6,368 13,769
14,181 21,582

Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TBNFIE - e REMmEKIRE 604 146
Due from subsidiaries JEUS BB A B FUR = 261,908
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEY - 27,436
604 289,490
Current liabilities nEBaE

Trade and other payables 25 REMENIRE 911 681
Bank borrowings RITEE 200,000 200,000
200,911 200,681
Net current (liabilities)/assets B (BE) EEFE (200,307) 88,809
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BfE) BEFE (186,126) 110,391

Capital and reserves NN
Share capital B 140,955 140,955
Reserves G (327,081) (30,564)
TOTAL EQUITY R (186,126) 110,391

China Graphene Group Limited ¢ FE&AEEERA A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #H#Z=—ZF—/\F+-A=+—HLLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 29. A A T B MR R EREZES T

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company: (b) KA R#EEZ2EEWT :
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus losses Total
RAKE
RHEE it NS ZitEE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Thr Thr Thr ThL Thr
t 1 January 2017 R=E-+F-F-H 26770 121 234,897 (233,394) 23394
Total comprehensive expenses for the year ERREXLEE - - - (53959) (5395)
{31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZF-tE+ZA=1-H
R=%-\E-F-H 26,770 121 234,897 (292,352) (30,564)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year EprE AR - - - (296,517) (296,517)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-\ETZA=1-H 26,770 121 234,897 (588,869) (327,081)
30. RESERVES 30. f##E
(a) Group (a) R EE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium reserve
Share premium represents premium arising from the
issue of shares at a price in excess of their par value per
share. The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(ii) capital redemption reserve
The application of the capital redemption reserve is
governed by the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(iii) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the difference between the nominal value of the shares
issued by the Company and the aggregate of the
share capital and the share premium accounts of the
subsidiaries acquired. Under the Company Act 1981
of Bermuda, the Company may make distributions
to its members out of contributed surplus in certain
circumstances.

AEEZHHESEREZE)
FHEMEERERAREEE
AZ5I o

(b)EEZEEREH
(i) KEEE
Bt (B 8 AR B A B R mE E 2 B
BT PTEL 2R E - RIEER
ZERDEBERE-NN—FREE
FTiiE e

(ii) BEXEEI#E
EAXABEOREBECRANDYARE
—HN—FREVEFTRE °

(iii) B A B &
RRABBABBIEARRDEITRN
Z E{E S P UL RE T8 & ) 2 AN R i
MEEREECEE - REBRE
—hN—FR ﬁ}i K AIRETI&
FTRAIRAEKR B AR DEHARER
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e M HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

30. RESERVES (CONTINUED) 30. f##E (&)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (b)REZ2EER B (E)

(iv) Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

(iv) S} 6 B 5 1

HNESTE H B BB IET A iR B 8N
BYERREEZERZ58 - %HE
TR ARG B ISR R M s A5 S 5T
RIRIE -

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 31. ZEBHERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities BMERDEECBEYE
Bank
borrowings
RITEE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 January 2017 R_E—t+F—A—H 120,000
Changes in cash flows Bemng 75,611
Non-cash changes HESE
- interest expenses —FERE 4,553
- Accrued interest expenses recognised —RNE SR EAMEMNREERN R S5 (164)
in trade and other payables
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R-E—tH&+-A=+—-HR=Z-N\F—A—H 200,000
Changes in cash flows Ren#® (5,779)
Non-cash changes FESEH
— interest expenses —FBFHX 5,943
- Accrued interest expenses recognised —RNE SR EAM BN RIEERN R S (164)
in trade and other payables
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\F+=ZA=+—H 200,000
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e M HRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EXREIE
Capital commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting RIREHR - EEFTEMREEZEARFIE
period but not yet incurred are as follows: NN
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Property, plant and equipment I ER e 15,416 13,867
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. FRAE

33.

In light that there was a change in a subsidiary’s shareholdings
during the year ended 31 December 2002 and the subsidiary
has accumulated tax loss brought forward, Section 61B of the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance basically prevents the
utilization of tax loss through the purchase of companies with
accumulated tax losses. In view of the inherent uncertainties
of change of shareholders, and the outcome of which cannot
be estimated reliably at this stage, the Directors considered
that no specific provision should be made in the consolidated
financial statements.

34. LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases and were payable as follows:

34.

HREBE-_SE _F+_A=+—HLFE
HFAEE - BARNBREEEET
ZHBARAE R R RIARIE - B85
GBI 6B IEREA L2 HFE B R EE
BEEARFEAMREEIE - ENREEEH
WETHEE M - IR E LA i (HatH
BER  ARREERBTEREEMIERE
e BB RHE -

A ESE

REEEREBA
RBEHR - RIFTAIREEEHEMETH
BRIEN 2 RIEBAOFRAELT ¢

2018 2017

—2-N\E —T—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHAT

Within one year —FR 205 4,589

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for an
average term of two years and rentals are fixed over the lease
terms and do not include contingent rentals.

REMOFREAREREETRAZEZE
NHEE AHZHACERRFOREM
F o ENSNES AR - BAEEIAEE -
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e M HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#Z—ZF—\F+_A=T—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

34. LEASE COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$10,747,000 (2017: approximately
HK$10,126,000). All of the Group’s investment properties are
held for rental purposes. They are expected to generate rental
yields of 3% (2017: 3%) on an ongoing basis.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases and were receivable as follows:

34. AEE (&)

AEBEAHBEA
AFEEHBRIZ2WERASRAED
10,747,000 7 ( —ZE —+ £ : 410,126,000
BIL) c AEBFIEREMES AFENR
ERS B ZSWEMFEEE3% (ZF
—tF 3%) cHEHWEE -

RI|BEMR - BB AT B EHOETH
B IEM 2 RIEHXFIBETELT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHEL
Within one year —FR 2,833 6,760
In the second to fifth year inclusive ECRFENF(BEEEMSE) 27 m
2,860 6,871
35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. BHAERS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances BRIRE B mMEREMEIBOIEREENR TS
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, RSN - REBERFRNEEEE T EUAT
the Group had the following transactions with its related R
parties during the year:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHL
Rental income from a director RE—BEFZHSMA 195 300
112 China Graphene Group Limited « HEHEAEEER AT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #&#ZE—ZF—\F+-A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

Pursuant to a court judgement issued on 10 October
2018 regarding a claim made against the Group in
relation to a residential flat it sold in December 2010,
the Group was ordered to return the net purchase price
of HK$9,669,000 it received for the said flat back to the
purchaser (the “Judgment Amount”) and the legal and
beneficial title of the said flat to be transferred back from
the purchaser to the Group. The Judgement Amount
has been settled on 11 January 2019 with the sum of
HK$1,500,000 paid into Court by the Defendant by way
of a Notice of Sanctioned Payment date 11 January 2016
and completion took place on 25 January 2019.

The Group has entered into an 5-year loan agreement of
approximately US$956,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,503,000) with an independent third party, which
is secured by a residential flat and the entire issued
shares of Super Homes Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company as collaterals.

36. REHKRER

(@

(b)

Annual Report 2018 « —ZF— \F &

BERZ—\FTAT+EREBALE
B-_Z—ZTF+_AHEZEEEMNR
AR BWEH HY BB R ES H AR R
N2 B 4 an 2 3R 38 PTURCER bt B %
B E (B 9,669,000/ T FEH ([#4%
) BRIz & EZREREE
MEFERTASE - HReEENZ
E—NF—A+—B&EN  BEENE
HHBAE-Z—R"F—A+— BT
BRARBANENFXNAVEESZ [ H#
1,500,000/ WR=—E—nLF— A
“tFRHEZEK -

ANE BB EIF 5 = 5] 37 £ 956,000
=7t (HER47,503,00087T) © AH
RAFEZERHZE LU—HEEEML
Super Homes Limited (AR RIE#EE2E
MEAR) 2 232 B TRAEER -
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE=ZT—N\F+-A=1+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTTEHE)

37. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

37. KRB EEWMBLAFE

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—0 HAEEZE
B BENMBEBKEZRE ZARANE
RAZFBEERIIAT

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries which principally
affected the results, assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2018 were as follows:

Percentage of ownership
interest/voting power/
profit sharing
BERER/RER/
HEAEZEA

Place of incorporation Particulars of issued

Name and operation and paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

£ AR REE LS BRETRMERAE Ei BE IEZEK

China Graphene Holdings British Virgin Islands 100 Ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - Investment holding

Limited ABROES BRAG1ZTI00RLRR REZkK

Century Elegant Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share - 100% Provision of property management services

EMARAT (3 1hEER RUENEERRS

Chelng Kee GardenLimited ~ Hong Kong 100 ordinary share 450,000 non-voting deferred shares - 100%  Provision of horticultural services

FtEARAA Bh 100 REERRA0000RERREELR RUELRE

Donwin Property Limited Hong Kong 2ordinary shares - 100%  Property holding

RRELARAT & 2REER NERA

Sui Chong Finance Limited Hong Kong 2ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of financing and management Services,
money lending and trading of securities

el HARART 305 ARERR REMEREERE  FEXBREFRS

Sui Chong Intemationl Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of property, management and project

Resources Limited management Services

neBRERARAA 5 1000 E MR REMFERIEE EERY

Super Homes Limited Hong Kong
WI Capital Co., Limited Japan
AR

Wi Graphene Co., Limited Japan

£

38. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED

100 ordinary shares 100 non-voting deferred shares
00RERRR0RERZEELER

JPY800,000,000
800,000,000 2 E

JPY384,000,000

384,000,000 8

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements are approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March

2019.

114 China Graphene Group Limited  HEHEAEEER AT

100%

100%

100%

Investment properties holding
RENERE

Investment holding

RARR

Manufacturing and sale of graphene and
graphene-related products
ERHERZRREERERER

38. #txGFEEMBE/EK

HESEVBRRER - - NLF=H
“HNBERESSHERRETIE -



Group Properties

EEY %

Particulars of the Group’s major properties held for sale as at 31

December 2018 are as follows:

AEBR_Z—/\FT+_A=+—HAKELEZE

RYEFHBWOT -

Gross floor area

Percentage
interest attributable

HEEMEE to the Group
Location Existing Use sq. m. REEELER
1 2 RERE K Bok
30 units of THE ICON, 38 Conduit Road, Residential 1,953 100%
Mid-levels, Hong Kong
HAFILTEE I8 =

THE ICON &9 30 1l # iz
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Ssummary Financial Information

MBERBE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets

REBIZ TIIMERE < EE RS <2

and liabilities of the Group prepared on the bases set out inthe note EBENRBEZBELNT -
below:
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=t+—HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E2-N\F —T—tF ZT-RF —T-HF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET FET FET FET
RESULTS ¥
Revenue Wz 16,529 14,572 5,442 12,210 5,351
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEiA (F518), @Al (88,805) 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043)
Income tax expenses FTisfif S (17) - - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(E1R),/HF (88,822) 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043)
Attributable to owners of
the Company RNRES AL (88,822) 51,898 (43,947) (26,469) (24,043)
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-—H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E2-N\F —T—tF ZT-RF —T-HF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET FET FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ERE®E
Non-current assets IEmENEE 393,497 428,852 14,750 10,835 4,545
Current assets mENEE 12,860 66,087 354,001 282,919 295,316
Current liabilities mEaE (209,501) (210,673)  (137,198) (5,468) (9,415)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = - - - -
Net assets EEFE 196,856 284,266 231,553 288,286 290,446
Total equity TS KA 196,856 284,266 231,553 288,286 290,446
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